

LUND UNIVERSITY

Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

Ek-Olofsson, Henric

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Ek-Olofsson, H. (2024). Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

HENRIC EK OLOFSSON CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





HENRIC EK OLOFSSON graduated from Lund University in 2018. He is currently a member of the Division of Pathology led by Professor Elisabet Englund, in parallel with his residency training at Clinical Genetics, Pathology, and Molecular Diagnostics in Lund. The focus of Henric's thesis is a microvascular formation of the human brain encountered during postmortem neuropathological examinations, termed 'raspberry' due to its characteristic appearance when viewed under a brightfield microscope. The abundance of rasp-

berries varies considerably among individuals, but little is known about the characteristics of this variation. In his thesis, Henric examines the clinicopathological context in which raspberries may be more abundant, with the goal of directing future research on the pathogenesis and consequences of this microvascular entity.



Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:9 ISBN 978-91-8021-502-2 ISSN 1652-8220





Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

Henric Ek Olofsson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 25 January 2024 at 09.00 in Belfragesalen, Klinikgatan 32, Lund.

Faculty opponent Professor Raj Kalaria, Newcastle University

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Author(s): Henric Ek Olofsson

Date of issue 25 January 2024

Sponsoring organization: Lund University

Title and subtitle: Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

Abstract:

A raspberry is a microvascular formation of the human brain that can be encountered during postmortem neuropathological examinations. Our histopathological definition of a raspberry connotes a minimum of three vascular lumen surrounded by a common perivascular space and sectioned transversally. Prior to the start of this project, our impression was that the number of raspberries could vary considerably among individuals, but little was known about the characteristics and significance of this variation. As such, the aim of this thesis was to examine the distribution of raspberries in archival brain tissue to specify the clinicopathological context wherein raspberries occur, in an attempt to direct the focus of future research. A hypothesis that guided our study designs was that raspberries form in a setting of chronic or recurrent hypoperfusion.

This was a retrospective study based on archival brain tissue originally sampled as part of postmortem neuropathological diagnostics. To compare the raspberry density between different diagnoses, the raspberries were quantified in tissue sections from the cerebral cortex – mainly in the frontal lobe, since raspberries had been frequently encountered in this region. After retrieval of recorded clinical data and autopsy findings, we examined whether the raspberry density varied in relation to age, large vessel disease, small vessel disease, vascular brain injury, vascular dementia, neurodegenerative disease, and clinical data including hypertension, diabetes, and other diagnoses that have been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow.

The raspberry density increased with advancing age independently of potential confounding factors. Our findings further indicated an increased raspberry density in patients with cerebral atherosclerosis, hypertension subgrouped for organ damage (exploratory), and vascular dementia. Regarding neurodegenerative diseases, the raspberry density was found to be increased in frontotemporal lobar degeneration, but not in Alzheimer's disease or Lewy body disease. In the forebrain, raspberries were frequently encountered in the cortex and deep grey matter, but only rarely in the white matter.

As such, raspberries are a partially age-related phenomenon that becomes more abundant in a setting of high vascular disease burden. The raspberry density is selectively increased in frontotemporal lobar degeneration compared to Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body disease. These findings narrow down the clinicopathological characteristics of raspberries. This knowledge can be applied to direct the focus of future research on the pathogenesis and consequences of raspberries, wherein further applicable methods include transcriptomics, imaging, and animal models.

Key words: cerebrovascular disease, cerebral small vessel disease, vascular dementia, neurodegenerative disease, frontotemporal lobar degeneration, hypertension

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)	Supplementary bibliographical information Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:9
Language English	ISSN and key title: 1652-8220
ISBN: 978-91-8021-502-2	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 90
Price	Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Microvascular brain raspberries: A clinicopathological study

Henric Ek Olofsson



Cover art by Victoria Ek Olofsson Copyright pp 1-90 Henric Ek Olofsson

Paper 1 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 2 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Open Access) Paper 5 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-502-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



It is not down on any map; true places never are. Herman Melville

Table of contents

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	10
List of papers	12
Abbreviations	13
Background	15
Overview	15
Blood vessel formation	16
Vascular anatomy of the brain	18
Cerebral blood flow and its regulation	22
Cerebral hypoperfusion in a setting of altered vascular function of haemodynamics	r altered 24
Structural alterations of blood vessels	25
Large vessel disease	
Small vessel disease	
Parenchymal reactions to acute ischaemia, and neuropathological	correlates
Novement also signal accordance of always is how an enforcing	
Neuropathological corelates of chronic hypopertusion	
Vascular dementia	
Neurodegenerative diseases	
Alzheimer's disease	
Frontotemporal lobar degeneration	
A geing	37
Previous studies on raspberry-like microvascular entities	38
	42
AIM	43
Methods	45
Study population	45
Neuropathological procedure	45
Data from medical records and autopsy reports	46
Quantification of raspberries	48

Statistics	51
Results	53
Overview	53
Some general features of raspberries	53
Raspberries in relation to brain region	54
Demographics: Age and sex	55
Clinical data and autopsy findings	56
Vascular dementia and neurodegenerative diseases	57
Summary	58
Discussion	59
Are raspberries vascular bundles? Are raspberries remodelled bl or formed de novo?	ood vessels 59
Clinicopathological characteristics of raspberries	62
Age	62
Vascular disease Neurodegenerative disease	62 64
Outlook	66
Conclusion	69
Acknowledgements	
8	71

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Det här projektet har undersökt en kärlförändring i hjärnan som kallas 'hallon', vilket är en referens till dess speciella utseende i mikroskop. Vi började lägga märke till hallon i samband med mikroskopisk undersökning av hjärnvävnad som tillvaratagits vid kliniska obduktioner utförda för att diagnostisera hjärnsjukdomar. I mikroskopet ser ett hallon ut som flera tvärsnittade blodkärl som ligger tillsammans i ett knippe, inneslutna i ett gemensamt rum.

Vi noterade att dessa hallon var ett relativt vanligt fynd, men att mängden varierade betydligt mellan olika personer, och även mellan olika delar av hjärnan. Vi visste dock inte något om vad den här variationen representerade. Kärlsjukdom i hjärnan ligger bakom bland annat stroke och vissa former av demens och trots att mycket forskning bedrivits på dessa tillstånd är mycket fortfarande okänt. Därför är det viktigt att utreda kärlavvikelser i hjärnan och fastställa deras betydelse.

För att åstadkomma detta, började vi kartlägga hallontätheten vid olika sjukdomstillstånd på ett systematiskt sätt. Vi räknade antalet hallon i hjärnvävnadsbitar, framför allt från hjärnbarken (cortex) i frontalloberna, och korrelerade detta med andra sjukdomstillstånd i hjärnan, samt med andra organfynd och kliniska sjukdomar patienten lidit av. Vi undersökte även i mer detalj om hallontätheten varierade mellan olika delar av hjärnan.

I vår första studie studerade vi hallontätheten vid olika demenstillstånd och jämförde den med kontrollfall (fall som var fria från hjärnsjukdom). Vi fann att hallontätheten var förhöjd vid 'vaskulär demens', en demensform som uppstår när kärlsjukdom orsakar kronisk blodbrist i hjärnan till följd av blodproppar och andra kärlskador. Vi jämförde även hallontätheten mellan olika delar av cortex, och noterade att den var högre i frontalloberna (pannloberna) jämfört med occipitalloberna (nackloberna).

I den andra studien undersökte vi hallonförekomsten i förhållande till kardiovaskulära riskfaktorer och kliniska tillstånd förknippade med avvikande blodtryck eller blodcirkulation. Vi fann en förhöjd hallontäthet hos patienter med åderförfettning (ateroskleros) i hjärnans stora blodkärl.

Syftet med vår tredje studie var att se om resultaten från studie nummer två kunde bekräftas i en större grupp patienter. Liksom i den föregående studien fann vi en högre hallontäthet hos patienter med ateroskleros i hjärnans kärl, men fyndet var inte lika starkt som tidigare. I denna studie kartlade vi vidare hallontätheten i olika delar av hjärnan, och fann att den var relativt hög i cortex och i andra former av grå hjärnsubstans, men att den var låg i vit substans och i lillhjärnan.

Vår fjärde studie fokuserade på förhållandet mellan hallontäthet och ålder. Vi observerade en ökande hallonförekomst med stigande ålder, men fann också ett samband mellan förhöjd hallonförekomst och högt blodtryck. Detta samband gällde dock endast om man tog hänsyn till allvarlighetsgraden av det höga blodtrycket genom att kartlägga andra organfynd. Våra resultat tydde även på att mängden hallon var något högre hos kvinnor än hos män.

Den femte studien undersökte återigen förekomsten av hallon vid sjukdomar som kan ge demens; de undersökta sjukdomarna även kan även yttra sig som störningar i kroppens motorik. Den här gången kartlade vi hallontätheten vid tillstånden 'frontotemporal lobär degeneration' (FTLD) och 'Lewykroppssjukdom'. Vi fann att hallonförekomsten var förhöjd vid FTLD, medan den vid Lewykroppssjukdom inte skilde sig från kontrollfall.

För att sammanfatta, har vi funnit att hallon förekommer i ökad utsträckning i samband med stigande ålder, men att förekomsten ökar ytterligare vid vaskulär demens, ateroskleros i hjärnans stora blodkärl, och högt blodtryck med hänsyn till samtidig organskada. Därtill fann vi en ökad hallonförekomet vid FTLD.

Fynden kan ge vägledning i framtida studier som syftar till att fastställa hallonens uppkomstmekanismer och konsekvenser. Bland annat kan man undersöka genuttrycket i hallonrika hjärnregioner, eller undersöka i djurförsök om hallon kan bildas som svar på vissa stimuli. Detta kan förbättra våra kunskaper om kärlsjukdomar i hjärnan. Därtill behövs ytterligare forskning för att förstå orsaken till den förhöjda hallontätheten vid FTLD, ett tillstånd som inte anses förknippat med kärlsjukdom, men där mycket forskning pågår för att fastställa sjukdomens orsak. Vidare studier behövs också för att fastställa hallonens tredimensionella struktur och sätta dem i relation till liknande fynd av andra författare. Det är möjligt att den tredimensionella strukturen av hallon snarast liknar ett tvinnat rep, eller – för att använda en tematiskt mer närliggande liknelse – en hallonrem.

List of papers

Paper I

Ek Olofsson H, Englund E. A cortical microvascular structure in vascular dementia, Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal lobar degeneration and nondemented controls: A sign of angiogenesis due to brain ischaemia? Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology. 2019;45(6):557-69.

Paper II

Ek Olofsson H, Haglund M, Englund E. Are cortical microvascular raspberries caused by cerebral hypoperfusion? An exploratory pathological study. Cerebral Circulation - Cognition and Behavior. 2021;2:100026.

Paper III

Ek Olofsson H, Haglund M, Englund E. On the regional distribution of cerebral microvascular 'raspberries' and their association with cerebral atherosclerosis and acute circulatory failure. Cerebral Circulation - Cognition and Behavior. 2023:100157.

Paper IV

Ek Olofsson H*, Österling Delshammar T*, Englund E. Cortical microvascular raspberries and ageing: An independent but not exclusive relationship. Acta Neuropathologica Communications. 2023;11(1):195.

Paper V

Ek Olofsson H, Englund E. Cortical microvascular raspberries are more frequent in frontotemporal lobar degeneration than in Lewy body disease and control cases: A neuropathological study. Manuscript in preparation.

*Equal contribution

Abbreviations

ACA	Anterior cerebral artery
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADNC	Alzheimer's disease neuropathologic change
CAA	Cerebral amyloid angiopathy
FTLD	Frontotemporal lobar degeneration
FUS	Fused in sarcoma
GRN	Progranulin gene
HIF	Hypoxia inducible factor
LBD	Lewy body disease
MAG	Myelin-associated glycoprotein
MCA	Medial cerebral artery
PCA	Posterior cerebral artery
PLP1	Proteolipid protein-1
TDP-43	Transactive response DNA-binding protein 43
UPS	Ubiquitin-proteasome system
VaD	Vascular dementia
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Background

Overview

The focus of this project has been the raspberry, a term used to describe the histopathological appearance of a microvascular formation that has been observed in brain tissue sections during clinical neuropathological examinations. The term raspberry stems from the characteristic, histopathological appearance of the formation (Fig. 1–2). Our definition of a raspberry connotes a microvascular formation consisting of three or more adjacent vascular lumen, surrounded by a common perivascular space and sectioned transversally.

At the start of the project, we had identified raspberries in various neuropathological conditions during clinical postmortem examinations, as well as in patients with no other major neuropathological findings. It was apparent that the number of raspberries could vary considerably among individuals, as well as between different anatomic locations within the same individual, but the significance of this finding was unknown.

Being part of a clinical lab with access to archival brain tissue, the most natural approach to examine raspberries was to quantify the occurrence of raspberries in different diagnoses to generate hypotheses on the pathogenesis of this entity. While this approach does not test all hypotheses directly, it is a non-invasive way to direct future experimental or prospective approaches.

However, to discuss the results acquired from these clinicopathological studies, one must provide a background. The first part of this background attempts to overview some mainly physiological aspects of blood vessel formation, anatomy of the cerebral vasculature, and regulation of cerebral blood flow. The later parts of the background focus on cerebral ischaemia and other forms of vascular pathology, in a general context and then in relation to vascular dementia and neurodegenerative disease. The final part of the background describes findings of other authors on vascular entities that overlap with raspberries.



Fig. 1 Examples of cortical microvascular raspberries.

Blood vessel formation

To maintain the environment within a favourable niche that admits cellular life and functionality, a steady supply of nutrients is required, as well as a means to dispose of waste products. Bacteria can rely on simple diffusion to maintain this niche, but in humans, diffusion becomes insufficient early during development, as the growing embryo reaches but a few mm in size [1]. This problem is shared by most multicellular organisms; a transportation system to maintain homeostasis has been in high demand since an early point of evolution [2]. In humans and other vertebrates, the vascular system represents the solution to this challenge, allowing the delivery of oxygen and nutrients by arteries and the disposal of carbon dioxide and other waste products by veins and lymphatics.

Certain aspects of embryonic development can illustrate the formation and organisation of blood vessels. The vascular system begins to form during the third week of embryonic development, as a primitive capillary network is laid down by endothelial precursor cells derived from the mesenchymal germ layer – a process termed 'vasculogenesis' [1]. This network interconnects with the developing heart as it starts beating during the fourth week of pregnancy, at a point when the embryo reaches about 4 mm in size [1]. Around this time, the neural tube has separated from the rest of the ectodermal germ layer and has already acquired a rudimentary segmentation in the form of primary vesicles (forebrain, midbrain, and hindbrain)

[3]. The vascularisation of the brain is initiated as a vasculogenesis-derived capillary network (the perineural vascular plexus) forms around the neural tube [3]. The vascularisation of the neural parenchyma is then achieved mainly through 'sprouting angiogenesis' – that is, the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones [4].

Capillary sprouts are led by endothelial tip cells equipped with filopodia that can extend or detract accordingly in response to proangiogenic stimuli [5]. The tip cells are followed by endothelial stalk cells that proliferate, form a lumen, and synthesise a new basement membrane around the developing capillary, along which migrating pericytes join and stabilise the vessel [4]. When tip cells from separate sprouts meet, the sprouts fuse, thus creating an anastomosis between two vascular beds. During embryonal development, capillary sprouts penetrate the neural parenchyma and grow radially towards the ventricles, guided by chemoattractant signals from neuronal progenitor cells [6].

In the embryo, the initial formation of the vascular system is achieved through a series of genetically predetermined steps [7]. The continued development, including the expansion of the capillary network, the regression of non-perfused vessels, and the differentiation into arteries and veins, is believed to take place in interaction with physiological stimuli [7], mainly hypoxia and flow-mediated effects on the endothelium [8, 9]. Going from a homogenous capillary network to a hierarchical and organ-specific vascular system requires the combined influence of multiple signalling molecules. A central molecule is vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF), which induces and guides sprouting angiogenesis, while also interacting with other angiogenic and vasculogenic signalling pathways [5, 10]. Due to steps involving degradation of the basement membrane and induction of vascular permeability, VEGF has a destabilising effect on the vasculature, and is tempered by other factors, such as angiopoietin 1 and 2. Angiopoietin 1 promotes maturation and stabilisation of the vasculature, while angiopoietin 2 can induce either angiogenesis - in conjunction with VEGF - or vascular regression, when VEGF is absent [11].

VEGF further interacts with neurogenic signalling pathways and as such, has a role in the development of the brain as well as the vasculature [12]. As such, the development of the vascular system and the nervous system are partially codependent and converge in the formation of a 'neurovascular unit', a term connoting the structural and functional interconnection between neurons, glia, and blood vessels [13].

Embryonic development represents a physiological form of blood vessel formation that continues during foetal and postnatal development [10, 14]. In the adult, the vasculature has acquired a stable and quiescent phenotype, in contrast to the highly dynamic and constantly remodelling vasculature of the developing brain [10]. However, the adult vasculature maintains the capacity for angiogenesis (and potentially vasculogenesis), which can be reinitiated in response to various stimuli through increased signalling of VEGF and other molecules [15]. Similar to developmental stages, hypoxia is an important stimulus for adult angiogenesis by increasing the activity of hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), which promotes the transcription of genes encoding VEGF and many other proteins [8]. Moreover, adult angiogenesis is often influenced by co-occurring inflammation, as many inflammatory mediators have angiogenic effects [16]. Ultimately, the switch from a stable, quiescent vasculature to a destabilised and angiogenic one requires an interplay between proangiogenic, antiangiogenic, and stabilising factors.



Fig. 2 Examples of cortical microvascular raspberries.

Vascular anatomy of the brain

The result of neuronal and vascular development is a richly vascularised organ with regional variations in vascular anatomy that has some functional implications. This section summarises the brain's vascular anatomy, with some emphasis on the arteriolar architecture.

The brain is supplied by the internal carotid arteries anteriorly and the vertebral arteries posteriorly [17]. After entering the cranium and penetrating the dura mater at the base of the brain, the internal carotid arteries give rise to the anterior cerebral arteries (ACAs) and the medial cerebral arteries (MCAs) [17]. The vertebral arteries, in turn, fuse into the basilar artery that terminates in the posterior cerebral arteries (PCAs) [17]. Together with anterior and posterior communicating arteries, the cerebral arteries form the anastomosing circle of Willis at the base of the brain [17]. The cerebral arteries and their branches are located in the subarachnoid space;

the vessels themselves are further surrounded by pial sheaths that are continuous with the pia mater [18].

From their location at the base of the brain, the arteries provide penetrating arteries that supply the deep grey matter (basal ganglia, diencephalon) and the capsula interna [19]. These arteries enter the parenchyma at right-angles [19]. The penetrants are surrounded by a double sheath of pia mater, which may constitute the anatomical basis of widened perivascular spaces around these vessels – a frequent feature of small vessel disease (see later sections) [20]. After providing these penetrating arteries, the cerebral arteries extend along the cerebral hemispheres. Throughout their remaining trajectory, the cerebral arteries give off multiple branches, creating an anastomosing network of pial arteries and arterioles that supply the cerebral cortex and hemispheric white matter [21].

The borders between the territories supplied by the ACAs, MCAs, and PCAs are referred to as watershed areas or simply border zones. As the blood supply to these areas is the most distal from the heart, these regions are considered the most vulnerable to hypoperfusion during haemodynamic failure [22]. The cortical border zones within the pial network can be referred to as 'external', while the 'internal' border zones are found between the arteries that penetrate from the base of the brain on the one hand, and the medullary arterioles (see next section) that originate from the pial network on the other [23]. Borders between medullary arterioles originating from different cerebral arteries also represent internal border zones [22]. The territories within the external border zones encompass the cortex and subjacent white matter; with some interindividual variability [24], they are located slightly parasagittal from the midline between the ACA and the MCA anteriorly, and between all three cerebral arteries posteriorly [22]. The internal border zones within the white matter correspond to the centrum semiovale and corona radiata [22].

The pial network give off arterioles that penetrate the parenchyma perpendicular to the surface [21]. Unlike the penetrants from the base of the brain, these vessels are covered by a single sheath of pia mater; this may be the reason why cortical arterioles seldom exhibit widened perivascular spaces [18, 25].

The penetrating arterioles have their own 'private' basement membrane which is separate from that of the astrocytes constituting the glia limitans [18]. The interposing space between the basement membranes, as well as the vascular wall itself, may house occasional monocytes, macrophages, and fibroblasts [26]. The arterioles further possess a continuous layer of smooth muscle cells and an incomplete internal elastic lamina [18].

At the level of capillaries and small/precapillary arterioles, the vascular and glial basement membranes fuse [27]. The arterioles terminate in capillaries, which are covered by pericytes in a discontinuous manner, and share their basement membrane with astrocytic end feet [27].

The cerebral arteries and the pial network which they supply are extrinsically innervated by sympathetic, parasympathetic, and sensory nerve fibres along the tunica adventitia [28, 29]. The intraparenchymal arterioles (post fusion of the basal lamina) are intrinsically innervated by projections from cholinergic (nucleus basalis of Meynert), adrenergic (locus coeruleus), and serotonergic (raphe nucleus) projections, in addition to the neuronal projections originating from these nuclei [29, 30].

The intracerebral arterioles can be classified depending on their lengths as cortical (terminating in and supplying the cortex) or transcortical (terminating in the white matter) [31]. The transcortical arterioles are of two types: subcortical – providing some branches to the cortex in addition to supplying superficial white matter – or medullary, continuing through the cortex towards the deep white matter without branching [21].

The cortical arterioles have been subclassified in different ways by different authors [21, 31, 32] (Fig. 3–4). In summary, the arterioles can terminate and branch at three main levels. The superficial level corresponds to cortical layers I–II, where the branches typically take off at 90-degree angles from the mother vessel; this is the least common pattern. The intermediate and deep levels correspond approximately to cortical layers III–IV and V–VI, respectively. Here, the vessels branch at acute angles from the mother vessel, resulting in an oblique trajectory initially. These branches can ramify further, and some of them will have a recurrent course (making a U-turn back towards the cortical surface). The visual appearance of this pattern of branching has been compared to fountains or candelabras [32, 33].

The cerebral capillary network rising from the intraparenchymal arterioles is estimated to contain half of the cerebral blood volume at any given time and run as much as 400 miles throughout the brain [10, 27]. The endothelium, pericytes, and astrocytic end feet constitute the blood brain barrier, a physical and metabolic gatekeeper that mediates selective transportation into (or out from) the brain, as well as metabolism of unwanted molecules [34]. In the cortex, three capillary layers have been recognised, roughly corresponding to the arteriolar levels of termination and branching [21, 31]. A fourth layer – the subpial zone – exists but is considered practically devoid of capillaries [21, 31]. The capillary network centred around cortical layer IV is indicated to have the highest capillary density [21, 31]. The capillary density of grey matter is considerably higher than that of the white matter, although results regarding the precise ratio vary – a recent estimate indicated that grey matter capillaries may be up to 6 times as numerous as those in the white matter [35].

The brain drain (of blood) is achieved by deep and superficial venules and veins; these vessels are sparser than the arterioles, generally of a larger diameter, and cover larger volumes of brain parenchyma [21]. The veins transit from the parenchyma to the cerebral convexities and drain into venous sinuses – that is, endothelium-lined

channels formed by focal separations of the two layers of the dura mater [19]. The sinuses empty mainly into the internal jugular veins which carry the blood back to the heart [19].

Other pathways take care of the drainage of interstitial and cerebrospinal fluid; these pathways have been implicated as important for clearance of waste products such as amyloid beta. Possible exit routes for interstitial fluid include retrograde, vasomotion-driven drainage within the walls of penetrating arterioles and pial arteries (intramural periarterial drainage pathway) [27], as well as pulsation-driven flow of cerebrospinal fluid along the paravascular arteriolar space, followed by aquaporin 4-enabled flow into the brain parenchyma and onwards to the paravenular side, followed by exit along the walls of veins, or into the cerebrospinal fluid (glymphatic system) [36, 37]. The main route for exit of cerebrospinal fluid connotes arachnoid granulations into venous sinuses [19].







Fig. 4 Cortical arteriolar branching with a minor recurrent branch.

Cerebral blood flow and its regulation

While I cannot provide a reference, the energy consumed while writing these words are not primarily required for my fingers, but my brain. The brain is a demanding customer; despite that it constitutes merely 2% of the body weight, its consumption of 15% of cardiac output and 20% of the total oxygen supply makes it the most metabolically active organ of the body [38]. Normal blood flow to the brain has been estimated to 50 ml/100 g tissue per minute [39] but is unevenly distributed and significantly higher in grey than white matter [40]. The internal carotid arteries provide approximately 70% of the brain's blood flow; the remaining 30% are provided by the vertebral arteries [41]. Due to its lack of glycogen deposits, the brain is dependent on a constant blood flow to sustain its high and fluctuating needs [42].

To meet the high energy demands, the cerebral vascular network is tailor-made not only in structure but also in its regulatory function. To 'serve' the brain, the vasculature can respond to systemic circulatory changes as well as locally mediated stimuli that exert a regional influence on the perfusion. Cerebral blood flow is defended against blood pressure alterations by the baroreflex and by cerebral autoregulation. In response to a drop in blood pressure, stretch-sensitive baroreceptors in the carotid sinus and aortic arch evoke vasoconstriction in other, non-cerebral parts of the circulation, as well as an increase heart rate [43]. Cerebral autoregulation, in turn, connotes the ability of cerebral arteries and arterioles to alter their diameter in response to changes in blood pressure in order to maintain a constant blood flow [44]. Increased wall tension causes muscular contraction, while reduced tension results in vasodilation; as such, cerebral autoregulation acts as a buffer that minimises the influence of blood pressure on cerebral blood flow [45]. The effector cells of cerebral autoregulation – the vascular smooth muscle cells – have an intrinsic ability to respond to changes in wall tension [46]; the response may be further modulated or assisted by flow-mediated effects on the endothelium, or by extrinsic sympathetic innervation [29, 47]. While the relative contributions are incompletely understood, cerebral autoregulation can be executed at multiple levels of the vascular tree, from large arteries to parenchymal arterioles [47, 48]. The same vessels further have the ability to react to alterations in carbon dioxide via lowered extracellular pH [49].

Regional alterations in cerebral blood flow are orchestrated by the neurovascular unit. Principally, neuronal activation induces a corresponding increase in local blood flow; the regulation is termed neurovascular coupling, and the resulting increase in blood flow can be referred to as functional hyperaemia [13]. Signalling in the opposite direction – wherein neuronal activity is adapted according to alterations in cerebral blood flow ('vasculoneuronal coupling') – has also been described [50].

The signalling of neurovascular coupling can be initiated by the activated neurons directly or by activated astrocytes. Glutamate binding to receptors that mediate neuronal depolarisation is paralleled by local release of vasoactive substances such as nitric oxide and arachidonic acid metabolites upon the blood vessel [13]. The response may be modulated further by consequences of neuronal activity, such as hypoxia, adenosine, and potassium ions [13]. The vasoactive substances impact on smooth muscle cells and lead to vasodilation; pericytes constitute additional effector cells [51]. The chemical signalling may also evoke electrical, endothelium-mediated propagation of the signal to upstream arteriolar segments via gap junctions [52, 53]. Intrinsic vascular and neuronal projections from nucleus basalis of Meynert (cholinergic) and locus coeruleus (adrenergic) can alter vascular tone and may play a role in modulating the extent to which incoming stimuli results in increases of blood flow and neuronal activity [30].

Last but not least, the endothelium itself has an important role in maintaining normal blood flow and homeostasis. The endothelium contributes to modulation of vascular tone in response to altered blood flow (shear stress) or in interaction with vasoactive substances, for example, by conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II [54]. Additionally, the endothelium normally expresses an anti-inflammatory, anti-thrombotic, and anti-proliferative phenotype that inhibits leucocyte adhesion, thrombosis, and smooth muscle cell proliferation [54]. Many of these functions are thought to depend on endothelial production of nitric oxide, in turn dependent on normal (laminar) shear stress [54].

In summary, the brain is dependent on cardiac output, baroreflexes, cerebral autoregulation, neurovascular coupling, and healthy endothelium for normal blood flow. Due to high and shifting energy demands and insignificant glycogen deposits, the cardiovascular system needs to deliver the right amount of blood at the right place and time. The blood brain barrier must protect the integrity of the brain, while removal of waste products is achieved via venous blood flow and drainage of interstitial and cerebrospinal fluid.

Cerebral hypoperfusion in a setting of altered vascular function or altered haemodynamics

Stress on the vasculature comes in many forms, including abnormal blood flow that induces pathological shear stress and wall-tension on the endothelium [55], altered hormonal state such as insulin resistance [56] or increased angiotensin II levels [55, 57], altered nutritional state such as hyperglycaemia [56] or dyslipidaemia [56], and chronic inflammation [58]. Some important mediators of vascular stress include hypertension [55], diabetes mellitus [56], smoking [59], obesity, and age [58, 60]. While not the only mechanism, vascular insults often converge into oxidative stress that reduces the availability of endothelial nitric oxide and evokes a shift in endothelial phenotype, affecting vasomotion (impaired vasodilation), inflammation, haemostasis, permeability, and proliferation [54]. The shift in phenotype may be adequate in an acute context, but in a state of chronic vascular stress, the change in function may turn into dysfunction, and ultimately result in remodelling of the vascular structure [54]. Both the functional and the structural alterations can affect the vascular capacity of normal blood delivery (hypoperfusion), the capacity to maintain the integrity across the vessel wall (blood brain barrier integrity), and normal drainage of interstitial fluids (perivascular or paravascular).

Since a hypothesis of ours connotes that raspberries are formed due to chronic cerebral hypoperfusion, some additional space will be used to cover this phenomenon, starting in this section with hypoperfusion from a perspective of altered vascular function and altered haemodynamics.

To my knowledge, there is no consensus on what to include in the term 'chronic cerebral hypoperfusion', but potential candidates are reduced resting blood flow, recurrent temporary reductions in blood flow, and dysfunctional neurovascular coupling with a mismatch between supply and demand [61, 62]. In animal models of chronic hypoperfusion, the hypoperfused state is often induced by bilateral common carotid artery occlusion, which results in structural changes similar to human small vessel disease [63]. In humans, however, the potential causes of chronic hypoperfusion are multifactorial. From a functional perspective, vascular stress that causes endothelial dysfunction may contribute to hypoperfusion due to impaired vasodilation [64]. Conditions such as hypertension, a likely contributor to endothelial dysfunction [55], has been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow [65, 66]. While the overall evidence is considered weak [67], individual studies have

indicated that cerebral blood flow can improve after antihypertensive treatment [68, 69], perhaps due to reversal of functional alterations.

One could also apply a more direct haemodynamic perspective on hypoperfusion, such as in acute global hypoperfusion caused by cardiac arrest with return of spontaneous circulation, or other forms of acute circulatory failure. In these cases, the normal regulatory mechanisms of cerebral blood flow are overrun by extreme deviations from normal blood pressure, leading to global hypoperfusion and ischaemia. In a chronic setting, milder forms of reduced cardiac output and reductions in blood pressure are considered potential contributors to ischaemic injury and cognitive impairment [70]. As such, additional examples of potential contributors to chronic cerebral hypoperfusion include heart failure, arrythmias, and orthostatic hypotension [62, 70].

Heart failure has been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow [71-73], white matter hyperintensities [74, 75], and atrophy of the medial temporal lobe, deep grey matter, and limited neocortical regions [76-78]. Likewise, atrial fibrillation has been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow [79] and brain atrophy, either globally in grey and white matter [80], or regionally, affecting hippocampus [81]. Orthostatic hypotension, in turn, has also been associated with white matter hyperintensities [82], although it is not known to what extent reduced cerebral blood flow due to orthostatic hypotension contributes to these lesions [83, 84].

Further indications that heart failure and arrhythmia can affect cerebral blood flow in a chronic, non-acute context include improved cerebral perfusion after cardiac transplantation [71], and the finding that persistent rather than paroxysmal atrial fibrillation was associated with reduced blood flow [79]. In atrial fibrillation, the observed association with brain atrophy was not affected by anticoagulatory treatment [80].

However, it is not known to what extent the mechanisms behind reduced blood flow in these conditions overlap with other effects – such as chronic inflammation and altered hormonal signalling – which could also occur in a state of chronic heart disease and potentially contribute to endothelial dysfunction [85]. Regardless of the mechanism, these conditions have been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow, and were as such included in some of the papers of this thesis.

Structural alterations of blood vessels

Structural effects on blood vessels differ depending on the vascular calibre and can be divided into large vessel disease and small vessel disease.

Large vessel disease

The typical large vessel disease is atherosclerosis, wherein vascular stress causing endothelial injury and dysfunction is thought to predispose for accumulation of lipoproteins in the intima of the vessel wall [86]. The lipoproteins attract the attention of macrophages that unsuccessfully attempt to scavenge the lipids [86]. The macrophages recruit other cell types to the cite, including migrating smooth muscle cells, which proliferate and synthesise connective tissue; the developed plaque consists of a necrotic core of lipid and cellular debris encapsulated by a fibrous cap [86]. The plaque may result in luminal narrowing; in tandem, hypoperfusion of the underlying muscular tunica media due separation from the intraluminal blood supply may cause atrophy and weakening of the vessel wall [86]. The plaque and may decide its fate; more necrotic and less fibrotic plaques are considered more prone to rupture [86].

Atherosclerotic plaques tend to form in the vicinity of arterial bifurcations, where the blood flow is turbulent and causes abnormal shear stress [87]. Regarding the cerebral vasculature, the carotid arteries are commonly affected; atherosclerosis in the cerebral arteries at the base of the brain is also frequently encountered [88]. Age, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus can contribute to progression of atherosclerosis into smaller and more distal arteries, sometimes involving the pial arterial network; this is considered a form of small vessel disease [89].

One consequence of atherosclerosis in the cerebral vasculature is progressive luminal narrowing, which could predispose for watershed infarcts in a scenario where severe stenosis co-occurs with acute circulatory failure, either on a pure haemodynamic basis or in combination with impaired washout of microemboli [23]. An atherosclerotic plaque may also undergo acute change due to bleeding within the plaque, rupture of the cap, or ulceration of the endothelium, with subsequent thrombosis [86]. The resulting thrombi can either occlude the arterial lumen of the artery or emit emboli that travel to more distal parts of the vasculature. By these mechanisms, cerebral atherosclerosis may contribute to large infarcts as well as microinfarcts [90]. Atherosclerosis in the carotid arteries may also impair the stretch-sensitive baroreflex due to increased arterial rigidity, thus increasing the risk of orthostatic hypotension and abnormal blood pressure variability [91]. Imaging studies have further associated cerebral atherosclerosis with reduced cerebral blood flow [92] and white matter hyperintensities [93, 94], although such findings need not infer that the observed changes in blood flow and white matter were caused by the atherosclerosis.

Another alteration of large vessels connotes stiffening of elastic arteries due to replacement of deteriorated elastic fibres by collagen or by calcification; the reduced compliance is manifest as increased arterial pulsatility [95]. Like atherosclerosis, arterial stiffening may impair the baroreflex, and has been independently associated

with orthostatic hypotension [96]. Arterial stiffening is considered an age-related feature but may be accelerated by hypertension and other conditions; arterial stiffening may, in turn, increase the risk of hypertension [55]. Increased pulsatility has been associated with white matter hyperintensities and widened perivascular spaces [97]; one theory is that extended propagation of pulse waves into the microvasculature contributes to the development of small vessel disease [95, 98].

Small vessel disease

Cerebral small vessel disease connotes pathologies that affect the vessels of the pial network and the intraparenchymal vessels [89]. Atherosclerosis can extend into the pial network; intraparenchymal arterioles do, however, often not exhibit lipid accumulation [26]. Rather, they accumulate plasma proteins and extracellular matrix that results in hyaline thickening of the vessel wall [86, 99, 100]. As the disease progresses, the smooth muscle cells of the media degenerate and the lumen becomes increasingly narrow [26]. This type of small vessel disease is referred to as 'arteriolosclerosis' [26]. Arteriolosclerosis frequently occurs in the white matter and deep grey matter [101]; the cortex is usually less affected [101], although arteriolosclerosis can occur in this part of the brain as well [102].

Animal models of induced chronic cerebral hypoperfusion demonstrate small vessel disease similar to arteriolosclerosis, indicating that hypoperfusion could contribute to the development of this vascular pathology [63]. While the risk factors of arteriolosclerosis are likely multiple and heterogeneous [26, 103], two main risk factors are generally considered to be hypertension and age [104, 105].

Potential consequences on brain parenchyma affected by arteriolosclerosis include reduced resting blood flow, impaired neurovascular coupling, compromised integrity of the blood brain barrier, and impaired drainage of interstitial fluid. Imaging correlates of small vessel disease, such as white matter hyperintensities, have been associated with reduced cerebral blood flow [106], but do not indicate causality: Does the reduction in blood flow reflect inadequate blood supply (hypoperfusion), or reduced blood flow secondary to reduced metabolism (neurovascular coupling)? (Or reduced metabolism secondary to reduced blood flow [vasculoneuronal coupling] [50]?) Other results on white matter hyperintensities include impaired cerebrovascular reactivity suggestive of impaired vasodilatory capacity [107], increased oxygen extraction fraction indicative of inadequate perfusion [108], and increased leakage over the blood brain barrier [109].

Neuropathological approaches to identify signs of vascular dysfunction in a context of arteriolosclerosis or other small vessel disease include immunohistochemical labelling and other biochemical analyses. Labelling of molecules suggestive of endothelial activation shows conflicting results; a proinflammatory shift, not necessarily indicative of endothelial dysfunction, may occur some contexts [110], but is not a universal feature of arteriolosclerosis [111]. The endothelium may also acquire a protective phenotype that mediates anticoagulation [111]. Regarding hypoperfusion, a reduced quotient of myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) and proteolipid protein-1 (PLP1) has been associated with the severity of arteriolosclerosis in white matter disease [112]. Since MAG is more susceptible to ischaemia than PLP1, a reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient has been applied as a biochemical marker of hypoperfusion; due to their slow turnover, a reduced quotient is further indicative of chronicity [113]. Regarding the blood brain barrier, plasma proteins within the brain parenchyma – suggestive of leakage – has been observed in some contexts [114]. Widened perivascular spaces – a feature that may accompany arteriolosclerosis in white and deep grey matter – has been proposed a potential correlate of altered perivascular drainage of interstitial fluid [25].

Impaired drainage of interstitial fluid leads us to another important form of small vessel disease, namely cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA). Functional or structural alterations in the vessel wall that impairs vasomotion and interstitial fluid drainage has been proposed to contribute to the deposition of amyloid withing vessel walls [25, 27]. CAA occurs in 90% of patients with Alzheimer's disease but can also occur independently of this pathology [115]. It most commonly involves pial and intraparenchymal cortical arterioles, but may also affect capillaries and venules [101, 115]. Affected blood vessels may exhibit degeneration of smooth muscle cells and progressive weakening of the vessel wall [101]. CAA can exert deleterious influence as a small vessel disease, wherein potential consequences include microinfarcts [116, 117], capillary occlusions [118], white matter disease [112, 119], and possibly further impairment of interstitial fluid drainage [25, 120], in addition to lobar haemorrhages and microhaemorrhages [101].

Another less studied small vessel alteration of potential pathological relevance is arteriolar tortuosity [121] (Fig. 5). From a small vessel perspective, tortuous arteries and arterioles have been encountered mainly in the white matter and deep grey matter [122]. They can co-occur with arteriolosclerosis in the same vessel [26]. Their abnormal trajectory may predispose for with altered blood flow and hypoperfusion depending on its severity [122, 123]. Neuropathologically, their clinical significance is uncertain. Individual studies have associated them with clinical hypertension [124] and lacunes in the basal ganglia [125]; a tendency towards an association with white matter disease has also been reported [126]. In contrast, a recent imaging study found a negative association with hypertension [127]. However, an association with hypertension would be in line with the clinicopathological characteristics of arterial and arteriolar tortuosity occurring in other part of the body [122].

Some additional small vessel alterations, including altered vascular density, increased basement membrane thickening, capillary string vessels, and morphological signs of altered capillary diameters will be mentioned in their respective contexts in the following sections.



Fig. 5. Overview of tortuosity/loop formation at the transition from cortex to white matter.

Parenchymal reactions to acute ischaemia, and neuropathological correlates

When a vessel is occluded by stenosis, thrombosis, or embolism, acute focal ischaemia ensues, and ATP-depleted neurons are no longer able to maintain ion gradients over the cell membrane. The net flux of ions results in depolarisation of the neuron, as well as cellular oedema caused by osmotic water influx [128]. Net influx of calcium ions activates multiple catabolic enzymes – potentially ending in necrosis or related death mechanisms – as well as intrinsic apoptotic pathways [129, 130]. The calcium influx also evokes glutamate release, which can trigger depolarisations in other neurons; excessive depolarisations in the hypoperfused penumbra surrounding the infarct core may worsen the energy deficit and contribute to neuronal death [131]. In the end, the neuronal fate of apoptosis, necrosis, or survival is decided by the combined influence of multiple parameters, such as the duration and severity of the ischaemia [132], the impact of recruited inflammatory cells [129], and the functionality and plasticity of the vasculature [133].

Neuropathologically, an acute infarct is characterised by necrosis, which becomes visible as pale, swollen, or – in cases of reperfusion – eosinophilic neurons; these changes may be visible after 4 hours [88]. After about 12 hours, neutrophils infiltrate the tissue, and when approximately two days has passed, macrophages join; the macrophages can remain for months while scavenging tissue debris [88]. In tandem, reactive astrocytes proliferate at the infarct rim; the combined scavenging and gliosis results in a fluid filled space lined by astrocytes [88].

Signs of neovascularisation such as hyperplastic endothelium may become visible at the infarct rim after about five days [88]. Studies on human infarct tissue indicate increased levels of VEGF [134], increased vascular density [135], and immunohistochemical signs of newly formed capillaries [136]. While potentially positive for the prognosis, the destabilising effects of angiogenesis may also come with negative effects, such as increased vascular permeability and compromised blood brain barrier integrity [133].

During an acute infarct, the influence of collateral blood flow results in a successive gradient between normally perfused tissue and the severely ischaemic infarct core [132]. Despite this gradient, the typical end result appears to be rather dichotomous in the cortex from a histopathological perspective; old grey matter infarcts tend to have only a short distance between completely infarcted tissue and normally appearing tissue [137, 138]¹. The matter of the white matter is more of a grey zone: Complete white matter infarcts may be surrounded by large incomplete infarcts – areas where some, but not all parenchyma has perished, resulting in a rarefaction of the tissue rather than a complete loss [139].

In addition to focal ischaemia, global ischaemia caused by cardiac arrest with return of spontaneous circulation may result in selective neuronal death or complete infarcts [88]. Selectively vulnerable regions include hippocampus, neocortex, basal ganglia, thalamus, and cerebellum [88, 140]. The regional distribution of the injury is further determined by the vascular anatomy, leaving the border zones extra susceptible.

Border zone infarcts may also occur in a context of haemodynamic failure and arterial stenosis [23]. Such haemodynamic failure typically results in internal watershed infarcts or combined internal and external infarcts [22]. Isolated external border zone infarcts are not as strongly associated with haemodynamic failure; in these cases, embolism constitute a plausible aetiology [22, 141], although hypoperfusion could contribute by impairing washout of emboli [23].

¹ These findings were noteworthy as the authors performed their studies to examine the histopathological correlates of chronically reduced cerebral blood flow surrounding complete infarcts on imaging. Based on their results, they suggested that the reduction may represent hypometabolism due to disconnected and functionally impaired neurons, which would be invisible when viewed under a brightfield microscope.

Neuropathological corelates of chronic hypoperfusion

The main setting wherein chronic hypoperfusion is thought to contribute to neuropathological alterations is white matter pathology. White matter pathology can also occur in a context of neurodegenerative disease, wherein neuronal degeneration precedes degeneration of axons and myelin; these aetiologies can be difficult to separate, although some indications may be provided by the regional distribution of the lesions and by the state of the adjacent cortex [139]. In this thesis, I refer to the white matter pathology thought to be caused by cerebrovascular disease as 'white matter disease'.

White matter disease is neuropathologically evident as tissue rarefaction caused by loss of myelin, axons, and oligodendrocytes, and reactive gliosis; this pathology is often accompanied by widening of the perivascular space [142, 143]. White matter disease is associated with small vessel pathology, including arteriolosclerosis [143, 144], CAA [119, 120], and - possibly - arteriolar tortuosity [126]. With some heterogeneity, white matter disease represents a neuropathological correlate of white matter hyperintensities [145]. It affects deep or periventricular regions with relative sparing of the subcortical U-fibres [146], and is usually the most severe in the frontal lobe [147]. Deep white matter, such as the centrum semiovale, is thought to be particularly vulnerable to hypoperfusion due to its location within the internal border zone [22]. Biochemical findings suggestive of a hypoperfused state in white matter disease include increased levels of HIF1 [110] and a reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient [112, 148]; the latter finding further correlated with increased levels of VEGF [148]. Of note, the VEGF levels were positively associated with increased vascular density, indicating that the VEGF signalling could evoke angiogenesis [148]. Despite these findings, however, the vascular density in white matter disease is generally unaffected [110, 148, 149] or decreased [139, 150, 151].

Other microvascular features that have been associated with white matter disease include increased capillary diameters potentially suggestive of compensatory vasodilation [150], presence of string vessels [150, 152] that may indicate ongoing capillary regression [121], as well as other abnormalities regarding the capillary trajectory, morphology, and basement membrane [150, 152]. Neuropathological findings suggestive of affected blood brain barrier is implied by the presence of plasma proteins in the brain parenchyma [152, 153].

Another brain region where chronic hypoperfusion has been proposed as one potential aetiology is hippocampal sclerosis [154], which connotes hippocampal neuronal loss in CA1 and subiculum beyond what could be explained by any co-occurring Alzheimer's disease neuropathologic change [155]. However, hippocampal sclerosis has a heterogeneous and incompletely understood aetiology, including also neurodegenerative and age-related conditions [154-156].

The effects of chronic hypoperfusion on the neocortex, either direct or secondary to remote injury, are incompletely understood. The blood flow to the neocortex appears to be less vulnerable to haemodynamic alterations than the blood flow to other brain regions. While the deep grey matter may be more susceptible to hypertensive injury due to the direct transition from major arteries to penetrants, and the white matter may be more sensitive to hypoperfusion due to its long end arteries, the cortex could represent the 'Goldilocks zone' wherein the perfusion pressure is 'just right' [157]². In a context of mild reductions in cortical blood flow that can be observed in, for example, patients with dementia (blood flow reduced by up to 30%[158, 159] as compared to infarct and penumbra thresholds, which have been estimated to occur at 20–40% of normal blood flow [132, 160]), neurons maintain their ion gradients and ability to de- and repolarise [161]. However, the mechanisms and long-term consequences of milder reductions in cortical blood flow are incompletely understood, and there are no clear histopathological findings that are considered suggestive of chronic hypoperfusion in the neocortex. Still, this may not be sufficient to conclude that the neocortex is impervious to the effects of chronic hypoperfusion on the brain (see following sections).

Vascular dementia

The cumulative burden of vascular brain injury can result in cognitive impairment and dementia. Clinically, vascular dementia (VaD) can be classified as multi-infarct dementia associated with large vessel disease, subcortical ischaemic VaD associated with small vessel disease, post stroke dementia referring to dementia developing within six months of a stroke, and mixed dementia [162]. Overall, the pathology with the largest impact on cognitive impairment is considered to be small vessel disease [163], including (but not limited to) arteriolosclerosis and CAA [143, 164-166]. It has been proposed that vascular lesions tend to accumulate according to a specific chronology, beginning with alterations of the vessel wall (such as arteriolosclerosis), followed by widening of the perivascular space and white matter disease, while infarcts may occur as a late or independent contributor to cognitive impairment [143]. At some point in this progression, the vascular brain injury affects

² This phenomenon has been proposed to have an evolutionary basis. The primitive brain can be likened to a tube – in humans partially preserved in the brainstem, diencephalon, and basal ganglia. In contrast, the human cerebral hemispheres have expanded far beyond the rest of the brain, representing evolutionary new structures. The primitive brain is supplied by penetrants from the base of the brain that originate directly from the cerebral arteries, constituting a high-pressure system. In contrast, the arteries that supply the hemispheres have elongated correspondingly and given rise to an expansive arteriolar network wherein the prefusion pressure decreases, thus creating a low-pressure system. This model has been referred to as 'the ambibaric brain' and proposed to underly regional variations in vulnerability to hypertension and hypotension [157].

cognition; while there is no specific threshold for when it occurs, certain neuropathological findings can indicate the likelihood that cerebrovascular disease contributed to cognitive impairment [166].

As the term subcortical ischaemic VaD implies, small vessel disease mainly affects subcortical regions, including white matter and deep grey matter. The cortical effects of subcortical ischaemic VaD are less well understood. While the cortex is affected by histopathologically evident lesions in the VaD spectrum as a whole – large infarcts, microinfarcts, hippocampal sclerosis [167] – there are also indications that the cortex may be more diffusely affected in VaD. Imaging studies demonstrate decreases in cerebral blood flow involving both the cortex and the white matter, more prominently in anterior brain regions, with relative sparing of the occipital lobe [158, 168, 169]. The oxygen extraction fraction has been reported to be increased solely in the white matter [168] and the cortically decreased blood flow to correlate with white matter lesions [158], indicating that the cortical reduction in blood flow may have secondary to white matter disease.

In contrast, a neuropathological study reported that the MAG/PLP1 quotient measured in the frontal cortex was reduced in VaD, thus indicating chronic hypoperfusion [170] (the same method has been applied to examine hypoperfusion in the white matter [112, 148]). In the study that examined the cortical MAG/PLP1 quotient, VEGF exhibited an inconclusive tendency towards being increased compared to controls [170]. Regarding the cortical vascular density, studies that investigated this parameter found a tendency towards a decrease - the authors examined either cases with VaD [150] or cases with white matter disease regardless of cognitive status [171]. While not concerning the cortex directly, a noteworthy exception was the white matter in post stroke dementia, wherein the vascular density was increased, perhaps indicating that the vascular plasticity is affected by the chronicity of the disease [150]. Other immunohistochemical and biochemical studies on the cortex in VaD have described parenchymal deposits of plasma proteins around capillaries [172] and altered levels of synaptic proteins, potentially suggestive of synaptic loss and a compensatory restorative response [173]. Finally, proteomic analysis of the temporal cortex demonstrated upregulation of multiple pathways that could indicate hypoperfusion, blood brain barrier leakage, inflammation, and hypometabolism, paralleled by upregulation of protective pathways [174].

Neurodegenerative diseases

This section covers the neurodegenerative diseases studied in this thesis, with focus on some alterations in blood flow and vasculature that have been described in these conditions.
Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia, characterised neuropathologically by progressive accumulation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles [175]. It has been proposed that the neuropathologic findings be referred to as Alzheimer's disease neuropathologic change (ADNC) to separate them from the clinical presentation [155].

Potential roles of vascular dysfunction in the development of AD include impaired clearance of amyloid beta due to dysfunctional interstitial fluid drainage [25], and experimental findings of increased amyloid beta generation under hypoperfusive conditions [176]. Cerebrovascular disease frequently co-occurs with ADNC [177] and it has been debated to what extent vascular risk factors contribute to its development [178]; however, AD can likely develop independently of such risk factors [179]. A recent meta-analysis and one neuropathological study further indicated that hypertension late in life (mild diastolic hypertension) was associated with a reduced risk of AD, although at the price of worsened small vessel disease [180, 181].

Nonetheless, AD is associated with vascular dysfunction that is likely intrinsic to the disease. Imaging studies have demonstrated reduced cerebral blood flow in AD that typically starts in the medial parietal cortex and later progresses to the other lobes [169]; an increased cortical oxygen extraction fraction has also been observed [168]. CAA occurs in 90% of patients with AD and may contribute to vascular brain injury in this setting as well as when it occurs independently. In addition to the structural alterations associated with CAA, functional alterations could also mediate hypoperfusion in AD. Amyloid beta can induce vasoconstriction of microvessels [182, 183], either directly or by evoking increased levels of the vasoconstrictor endothelin 1 [184], potentially due to upregulation of amyloid beta degrading enzymes that also produce endothelin 1 [185]. Biochemical analyses indicate cortical hypoperfusion (reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient), and the reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient was associated with increased levels of endothelin 1 [170].

Another aspect of amyloid beta concerns its interaction with VEGF. Parenchymal VEGF levels are increased in AD [186], more so than in VaD [170], potentially suggesting that amyloid beta can upregulate the production of VEGF beyond physiological requirements [170]. In tandem, however, VEGF can be sequestered in amyloid plaques [187], and amyloid beta may act as a VEGF antagonist [188], thus potentially reducing VEGF availability. One study that measured these parameters simultaneously indicated that the increase in VEGF was not accompanied by a corresponding increase in vascular density [170]. In fact, most studies reported a decreased vascular density in AD, although the results vary in this regard [115].

Biochemical signs indicative of compromised blood brain barrier integrity in AD include increased parenchymal fibrinogen [189] and reduced levels of tight junction

proteins [190] in the cortex. Other vascular abnormalities that have been associated with AD include increased thickening of the capillary basement membrane [191], abnormal capillary morphology [192], and increased capillary string vessels in the white matter [193].

Lewy body disease

Lewy body diseases (LBD) are synucleinopathies wherein alpha-synuclein aggregates into Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites [175, 194]. Clinical manifestations include dementia with Lewy bodies, Parkinson's disease with dementia, and Parkinson's disease [195]. Lewy body pathology frequently co-occur with ADNC, although the underlying mechanism of this co-occurrence is unknown [195].

Imaging studies of patients with clinically manifest LBD indicate reduced cerebral blood flow with predilection for the occipital lobes [196]; however, more widespread reductions in blood flow may also occur [159]. One study that compared the cerebral blood flow in patients with AD, dementia with Lewy bodies, and behavioural variant of frontotemporal dementia found it to be the most decreased in dementia with Lewy bodies throughout the brain [159]. A potential histopathological manifestation of reduced occipital blood flow in LBD is white matter disease (spongiform change and gliosis) with corresponding predilection for the occipital lobes [197].

One possible reason for reduced blood flow in LBD is intrinsic cholinergic denervation of the vasculature. Nucleus basalis of Meynert provides cholinergic innervation of neurons as well as intraparenchymal blood vessels [29, 30]. Cholinergic denervation with subsequent impaired vasodilation and hypoperfusion has been proposed as a contributory mechanism in the pathogenesis of AD – and other conditions associated with cholinergic deficit [198]. LBD is associated with degeneration of nucleus basalis of Meynert [199] and the cortex in LBD may exhibit marked cholinergic loss, as indicated by reduced acetylcholine esterase activity; the deficit was more pronounced than in AD [200]. Likewise, positron emission tomography of patients with clinically manifest LBD indicated cortical cholinergic deficit with a predilection for the occipital lobes [201], similar to the distribution of reduced blood flow demonstrated in other studies. While it does not prove the underlying mechanism, treatment with acetylcholine esterase inhibitors improves cerebral blood flow [202, 203].

Another potential mechanism by which LBD could be associated with recurrent hypoperfusion is cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction. Such dysfunction, including orthostatic hypotension, is a frequent feature of LBD compared to other neurodegenerative diseases and VaD [204, 205] (although it can occur in AD, frontotemporal dementia, and VaD as well [204-206]). In LBD, a potential underlying mechanism constitutes sympathetic denervation due to alpha-synuclein

aggregates within the peripheral nervous system [43, 207]. As with other forms of orthostatic hypotension, it is not known to what extent this condition can cause structural brain injury [208]. One study found that cases with LBD and symptoms indicative of orthostatic hypotension had increased small vessel disease burden and associated vascular brain injury when compared to LBD without such symptoms, indicating either that both pathologies contributed to and exacerbated orthostatic hypotension, or that the orthostatic hypotension contributed to the development of the vascular pathology [209].

A third component to consider in the context of LBD is the potential interaction between alpha-synuclein and VEGF. One biochemical study on the cortex of cases with LBD reported signs of chronic hypoperfusion (reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient), reduced vascular density, reduced VEGF levels, and an inverse relationship between VEGF and alpha-synuclein [210]. Based on these findings and experimental data, it was concluded that alpha-synuclein may inhibit normal VEGF expression, impair angiogenesis, and ultimately contribute to reduced capillary density with subsequent hypoperfusion [210]. The authors only found this combination of results in the occipital cortex [210]. Other studies, however, found cortical capillary alterations with a wider regional distribution, including reduced capillary density [150, 211], presence of capillary strings (indicating capillary regression) [150, 212], and increased capillary diameters (indicating compensatory vasodilation) [150, 211]. In contrast to these findings, other studies focusing on substantia nigra reported increased levels of VEGF [213], increased vascular density [214], and immunohistochemical labelling indicative of newly formed blood vessels [215]; the latter study further reported similar findings in putamen. As such, the results regarding VEGF and angiogenesis in the LBD spectrum are not unanimous, although perhaps slightly more so if limiting the scope to the forebrain and cortex.

From a neuropathological perspective, LBD has been independently associated with microbleeds, interpreted as a potential indicator of blood brain barrier dysfunction [216].

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) is the neuropathological equivalent of frontotemporal dementia [175]. Frontotemporal dementia constitutes a heterogeneous spectrum of diseases, including behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia, primary progressive aphasia, corticobasal degeneration, progressive supranuclear palsy, and motor neuron disease, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis [217]. FTLD can be categorised based on the proteins of the neuronal and glial inclusions that accompany the pathology. In a majority of the cases, the underlying protein is tau or transactive response DNA-binding protein (TDP) 43, and in a minority of the cases fused in sarcoma (FUS) [218, 219]. In rare cases, no specific protein is found other than those of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS)

[218, 219]. The most common neuropathological diagnoses within the FTLD-tau spectrum are progressive supranuclear palsy, corticobasal degeneration, and Pick's disease; an example of a rare diagnosis (mentioned here as it will be brought up later) is glial globular tauopathy. FTLD-TDP, in turn, can be classified into type A, B, C, or D [220]; type E connotes a fifth type [221], although consensus has not been reached whether it is a separate type or part of type B [217]. The most frequent mutations causing FTLD are located within *MAPT*, (encodes tau, manifests as various diagnoses within the FTLD-tau group), *GRN* (encodes progranulin, causes FTLD-TDP type A), and *C9orf72* (chromosome 9 open reading frame 72, typically associated with FTLD-TDP type B) [222].

As in other neurodegenerative diseases, frontotemporal dementia is associated with reductions in cerebral blood flow [159, 169], which has been demonstrated to occur at a presymptomatic stage in genetic forms, mainly in the subgroup with C9orf72 mutation [223]. While not associated with conventional vascular risk factors, recent studies on the pathophysiology of FTLD have demonstrated other vascular abnormalities in different diagnoses of this disease group. These include increased capillary density in familial glial globular tauopathy [224] and upregulated angiogenic pathways in FTLD-TDP [225, 226]. Furthermore, another study on the cortical gene expression in FTLD-TDP type A with GRN mutation indicated that neurovascular dysfunction may be an important feature in the pathogenesis of this disease [227]. Findings with vascular implications included HIF expression (HIF3A) indicative of hypoxia, reduced VEGF signalling (normally functioning progranulin induces VEGF), increased expression of VEGF-independent angiogenic factors (perhaps compensatory), increased vascular density, and compromised blood brain barrier integrity [227]. It is not known to what extent these findings apply to other diagnoses of the FTLD group.

Ageing

Ageing is important to account for in neuropathological studies. From a cellular point of view, ageing is associated with cumulative genomic damage that induces cellular senescence and other responses to injury; ultimately, these responses may become deleterious by contributing to stem cell exhaustion, impaired cellular interactions, and chronic inflammation [228, 229]. As such, ageing becomes a risk factor for multiple pathologies – including vascular and neurodegenerative – by exerting an independent influence on the function and structure of tissues and organs [228, 229]. The ageing process can be further accelerated by acquired pathologies such as obesity, diabetes, and hypertension [230], but may also be decelerated by other parameters, such as physical exercise [231].

The importance of different risk factors further varies across the age span. For example, hypertension in mid-life is considered an important risk factor for future cerebrovascular disease [232]. In contrast, arteriolosclerosis, typically associated with hypertension, may no longer be associated with this condition in the elderly population [104]. Perhaps individuals who live longer have fewer risk factors, ultimately making ageing itself the primary influence of vascular function and structure.

Potential vascular manifestations of ageing include stiffening of elastic arteries [95], arteriolar tortuosity [126], arteriolosclerosis [104], increased thickening of the basement membrane [233], arteriolar and possibly capillary rarefaction [95], affected angiogenic capacity [95], reduced cerebral blood flow [169, 234], and affected integrity of the blood brain barrier [235, 236]. These manifestations can overlap with alterations associated with vascular and neurodegenerative diseases – there may only be so many different patterns a tissue can demonstrate in response to injury.

Previous studies on raspberry-like microvascular entities

In this 'jungle' of small vessel alterations that can affect the brain grows a specific microvascular entity that we refer to as 'raspberries'.

As we began to examine these structures more closely, we also learned of observations made by other authors on similar vascular entities. Some of the earliest observations may be the ones by Alzheimer and Cerletti in the beginning of the 20th century [237, 238]³. Cerletti systematically examined structures referred to as 'Gefäßknäuelbildungen', 'Gefäßbündel', and 'Gefäßgeflechte' [238]; these terms were later translated as 'glomerular loop formations', 'vascular bundles', and 'vascular wickerworks' by Swedish neuropathologist Ove Hassler in the 1960s [239]. Hassler took an interest in these vascular entities and examined them by microangiography in a non-selected cohort of autopsied individuals [240], expanding the concept beyond the cases of malaria wherein Cerletti had performed the majority of his observations.

Among these three vascular abnormalities, glomerular loop formations likely correspond to the arteriolar tortuosity observed by other authors in mainly white and deep grey matter [121, 122]. The wickerworks and bundles, in turn, were restricted to grey matter, including the cortex [239]. 'Vascular wickerworks' connoted at least two arterioles that ran in parallel while intertwining like a rope, whereas 'vascular

³ This was prior to and – likely – unrelated to their later roles in the characterisation of Alzheimer's disease and the development of electroconvulsive therapy, respectively.

bundles' referred to at least four arterioles running in parallel [239]. Such formations cut transversally would likely correspond to a raspberry.

In his studies, Hassler noted that the formations increased with advancing age, and further saw a tendency towards an association with cerebral atherosclerosis and cardiac hypertrophy in his descriptive data [240]. Initial indications of an association with dementia were not supported in a subsequent study [241].

From the 1960s two the 1980s, other authors described similar formations of cortical blood vessels running in parallel, identified when examining the vasculature by microangiography or by the study of vascular casts. In several cases, these were secondary findings in studies on the cortical vascular anatomy [21, 32, 33, 242]. Some of these authors specified the location of these formations to the branching segments of penetrating arterioles as follows: A penetrating arteriole would sometimes give off multiple branches while still remaining within a single perivascular space, and the arterioles would run in parallel within this space for some distance, before the branches took off in individual directions [21, 32, 33]. This pattern was found mainly in the intermediate and deep levels of penetratts [21]. As an additional feature, the blood vessels constituting the formations were frequently intertwined [32], thus resulting in formations with characteristics of both vascular bundles and wickerworks (Fig. 6).





Based on these findings, Cervos-Navarro et al. characterised the ultrastructure of the formations by the application of electron microscopy [243]. The authors concluded that the formations, here referred to as 'vascular convolutes', were exclusively arteriolar and confined within a common perivascular space. Like in some of the aforementioned studies on the cortical vascular anatomy, Cervos-Navarro et al. described an increasing prevalence with advancing age.

In the early 2000s, Arsene et al. aimed to examine 'vascular convolutes' with brightfield microscopy [244]. Some of the vascular formations which they observed were indeed similar to and overlapping with raspberries, although they did not provide an exact definition adapted for the two-dimensional context. In their second study on this topic, the authors reported an inverse relationship with haemorrhagic transformation of infarcts [245].

In 2023, Ighodaro et al. examined formations termed 'multilumen vascular profiles' that were defined in the same manner as raspberries [246]. By quantifying these structures in the frontal cortex, the authors identified a statistically significant increase with advancing age and a potential association with self-reported brain trauma. Immunohistochemical labelling of astrocytes and microglia did not indicate increased glial reactivity around the vessels.

Regarding theories on why these microvascular entities would form, neovascularisation [239, 244], arteriolar elongation in response to hypoxia [243, 244], or an adaptation to hypertension that reduces the risk of haemorrhagic transformation of infarcts [245] have been proposed.

In summary, cortical structures with some resemblance to raspberries – and likely overlap – have been observed by other authors throughout the years. Even though the findings have been *en passant* in some cases, other attempts have been made to characterise them systematically, as briefly reviewed above. However, much of the clinicopathological context of raspberries remains unknown, with the only recurring finding being an increasing density with advancing age, which, until the study by Ighodaro et al. [246], was mainly a descriptive finding unaccompanied by statistical analyses.

Our own initial observations indicated that the number of raspberries varied considerably between individuals of similar age. We wanted to explore this variation further. As may be apparent from the background leading up to this section, our hypothesis was that raspberries represent a form of neovascularisation occurring as a result of chronic or recurrent hypoperfusion, wherein the blood flow remains above the infarct threshold. While raspberries occur in other parts of the brain as well, the fact that they are well as frequent in the cortex as in other regions interested me. The consequences of hypoperfusion on the cortex in the context of cerebrovascular or neurodegenerative diseases are incompletely understood. If raspberries were to represent a morphological sign of cortical hypoperfusion, this knowledge might be of value in neuropathological diagnostics, and could teach us

something about how different parts of the brain react to hypoperfusion. This thesis attempts to put raspberries within a clinicopathological context beyond age, in the hope of guiding further research on their pathogenesis and potential consequences.

Aim

The aim of this thesis was to examine and specify the clinicopathological context of raspberries. Our hypothesis was that raspberries form as a reaction to chronic or recurrent hypoperfusion; this has guided the study designs. Later parts of the project further aimed at examining to what extent raspberries are associated with age, and to follow up on initial findings from earlier exploratory studies and pilot studies.

In Paper I, we examined the raspberry density in vascular dementia, frontotemporal lobar degeneration, Alzheimer's disease, and control cases. These cases represented advanced cerebrovascular pathology and neurodegenerative disease.

In Paper II, we quantified raspberries in relation to individual findings of vascular disease and clinical conditions that might be indicative of hypoperfusion, in an attempt to see whether differences in raspberry density could be associated with less advanced neuropathological findings.

Paper III tested the findings from Paper II in an independent study sample.

Paper IV examined raspberries in relation to age while accounting for potential confounding factors, in an attempt to establish to what extent this relationship can be considered independent.

In Paper V, we re-examined the raspberry density in frontotemporal lobar degeneration based on earlier indications of an increased raspberry density within this spectrum. We also added to the previous data on raspberry density in neurodegenerative diseases by examining raspberries in relation to Lewy body disease.

Methods

Study population

This was a retrospective, cross-sectional project based on adult individuals who had undergone a postmortem diagnostic neuropathological examination. The neuropathological examinations were performed at the Department of Clinical Pathology (Sektion Klinisk Patologi) in Lund, which is part of Clinical Genetics, Pathology, and Molecular Diagnostics, Region Skane, Sweden. The patients were referred to a neuropathological examination to diagnose dementia, to diagnose other diseases affecting the brain, or as part of a broader examination to establish cause of death in cases without a prior history of neurological or psychiatric illness. A majority of the patients underwent a full clinical autopsy prior to the neuropathological diagnostics, including macroscopic examination and weighing of the internal organs, as well as tissue sampling for histopathological diagnostics, the extent of which depended on the clinical context. In a minority of the cases, the autopsy was restricted to a neuropathological examination only. The total time period from which cases were included encompassed January 1993–April 2023; most patients were included from 2010 and onwards (Fig. 7).

The data described and analysed in the project was collected by examining archival formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded brain tissue – for quantification of raspberries – and autopsy reports and medical records – for retrieval of autopsy findings and clinical data.

Neuropathological procedure

Since the project was retrospective and based on biological material collected and records established during clinical practice, the diagnostic neuropathological examinations had already been performed and reported. The general features of such a procedure are outlined here.

The brain (forebrain, brainstem, and cerebellum) is fixed for several weeks. A macroscopic examination follows, wherein signs of atherosclerosis in the arteries at the base of the brain are noted, as are signs of brain atrophy or focal lesions. The forebrain is cut in the coronal plane into sections 1-1.5-cm thick; the brainstem and

cerebellum are cut horizontally into sections 0.5-1-cm thick. The subsequent sampling typically includes tissue blocks from the cerebral lobes (neocortex and subjacent white matter), hippocampus, basal ganglia, cerebellum, brainstem (at the level of substantia nigra, locus coeruleus, and medulla oblongata), and one or several bi-hemispherical sections from the forebrain. After dehydration and paraffin-embedding, the tissue sections are cut 6-µm thick if staining with haematoxylin and eosin or special stains is planned, and 3-µm thick for immunohistochemistry. All tissue blocks are stained routinely with haematoxylin and eosin. Luxol fast blue is applied to examine white matter pathology. Alkaline Congo red or immunohistochemical labelling of amyloid beta is applied to assess CAA. Tangles and neuritic plaques are assessed with Gallyas silver stain or immunohistochemical labelling of tau. Aggregates involving other proteins (such as alpha-synuclein and TDP-43) are assessed by immunohistochemistry.

The neuropathological diagnosis of VaD is based on multiple ischaemic lesions and vessel wall pathology in absence of significant neurodegenerative disease [247, 248]. ADNC, LBD, and FTLD are classified according to consensus criteria [249-252], and updates [155, 218, 219, 253]. While the updates often build upon the previous consensus criteria, this may add some heterogeneity to the material when the inclusion period is long. However, most of the patients included in this thesis underwent neuropathological diagnostics after 2010 (Fig. 7). Another limitation is associated with including patients who underwent a neuropathological examination for reasons other than diagnosing dementia, since clinically motivated deviations from the standard procedure outlined above will occur in some of these cases. Such deviations could reduce the chances of detecting subclinical pathology, which in turn could exert a hidden influence on the raspberry density. However, including individuals from a broader context than patients affected by dementia may provide a better notion of how raspberries are distributed also in patient groups with less advanced neuropathology. Since we have no previous baseline raspberry density in the underlying population to compare to, such cases are also important to include as they may serve as controls.

Data from medical records and autopsy reports

Clinical data and autopsy findings were retrieved by assessment of medical records and autopsy reports. The autopsy reports were accessed via the two systems Sympathy (prior to April 2019) and LIMS RS (from April 2019 and onwards); these are digital systems wherein all autopsies performed at the Department of Clinical Pathology are documented. The medical records were accessed via the digital system Melior, wherein records of public specialist healthcare in Region Skane are kept.



Fig. 7 Histogram depicting the total time period from which cases were included in the project (January 1993– April 2023; n = 511).

In Paper I, subjects were included based on neuropathological diagnosis in combination with clinically diagnosed dementia. In Sweden, diagnoses are coded according to ICD-10 [254], in which cognitive impairment can be diagnosed as 'mild cognitive impairment' or 'dementia' depending on its severity. When assessed within the course of this project, data on cognitive status was based on clinically diagnosed mild cognitive impairment and dementia, regardless of which criteria that were applied to establish the diagnoses.

In Paper II, data retrieved from autopsy reports included aortic atherosclerosis, cerebral atherosclerosis (as assessed in the basal cerebral arteries), cerebral small vessel disease (arteriolosclerosis, lipohyalinosis, and small vessel atherosclerosis [255]⁴), CAA, cerebral infarcts, and white matter disease; data from clinical records included hypertension, diabetes mellitus, orthostatic hypotension, heart failure, and acute circulatory failure. In Paper III, the inclusion of data from medical records and autopsy reports were limited to cerebral atherosclerosis and acute circulatory failure; this approach was based on the results of Paper II.

Paper IV included individuals from Paper II and III as well as newly included individuals. The autopsy reports and clinical records were assessed – or re-assessed

⁴ Lipohyalinosis connotes a small vessel disease that partially overlaps with arteriolosclerosis; in later papers, the definition of 'small vessel disease' was altered to connote arteriolosclerosis alone.

- to further characterise the study sample regarding neuropathological diagnosis, and to add data on cardiac hypertrophy and nephrosclerosis to enable ordinal ranking of hypertension severity. In contrast to Paper I, neurodegenerative disease was categorised based on the neuropathological examination alone and did not require clinically verified cognitive impairment. This altered threshold was deemed preferable, since the aim was to exclude that neurodegenerative pathology affected the relationship between raspberries and age.

In Paper V, cases were included based on a neuropathological diagnosis of FTLD or LBD. Clinical data on these patients has not yet been retrieved.

A general limitation of retrospective studies is that the clinical data acquired from the medical records varies in quantity and quality; all patients are not examined in the same way and at the same time in relation to death, and the follow up over time varies. In Paper II, an attempt was made to address this limitation by validating the diagnoses of acute circulatory failure (also applied in Paper III) [256, 257], orthostatic hypotension [258], and heart failure [259] according to consensus criteria, although this approach is also limited by the retrospective design. Acquiring data in retrospect from autopsy reports is associated with similar limitations. For example, individual findings of cerebrovascular disease and ischaemic lesions are currently not graded according to a specific schedule, thus limiting the possibility to extract semi-quantifiable data. Such limitations may be partially overcome by expanding the study sample and may be further handled, or visualised, by using a wide range of available data to characterise the sample.

Quantification of raspberries

A raspberry is a histopathological finding defined as a minimum of three transversally sectioned vascular lumen surrounded by a common perivascular space. The definition has remained throughout the course of the project, although the method of quantification has undergone some variation. Typically, the quantification is performed on haematoxylin and eosin-stained tissue sections of the neocortex mounted on standard-sized glass slides. Throughout the text, I will use the term 'raspberry density' regardless of the unit of measurement, and specify when relevant.

In the first part of the project, the raspberries were counted by examining the tissue sections under a bright-field microscope. A 20-mm distance was measured at the cortical surface, and the raspberries in the underlying cortex were counted. The unit of measurement was raspberries/cm. The raspberry density of an individual brain was defined as the average raspberry density of the frontal, temporal, and parietal and/or occipital cortex.

In Paper II–V, the tissue sections were examined digitally in either Aperio ImageScope (cases included prior to April 2019) or Sectra IDS7 (cases included from April 2019 and onwards). In each tissue section, the cortical area was measured, and the raspberries within the delineated area were marked (Fig. 8). The new unit of measurement became raspberries/cm². With some exceptions, the raspberry density of an individual brain was estimated by examining a tissue section from the anterior frontal cortex (corresponding to Brodmann area 10, 9, or 46).



Fig. 8

Overview of a tissue section from the frontal cortex. The cortical area has been delineated and the raspberries have been marked.

In Paper II and III, this new unit of measurement was standardised for variations in brain weight. Weight standardisation was performed under the assumption that altered brain volume caused by atrophy or oedema – and manifested as an abnormal brain weight – could affect the raspberry density in a way that did not reflect a change in the absolute number of raspberries. The standardisation was achieved by multiplying the raspberry density by the quotient of the individual brain weight divided by the sex specific mean brain weight [260]:

 $[Raspberries/cm^2] \times ([Individual brain weight] \div [Sex-specific mean brain weight])$

In Paper IV and V, unstandardised raspberry density was used. Standardising for brain weight prior to performing the statistical analyses may be a valid approach in a setting wherein atrophy can be assumed to be random in relation to the dependent variable. In Paper IV and V, this was deemed not to be the case. If brain weight were to correlate with the dependent variable, weight standardisation prior to the statistical analysis could potentially hide an atrophy-independent component in the variation in raspberry density; other approaches may be preferable in such a scenario. In Paper IV, brain weight was included as a variable in the multiple linear regression models. In Paper V, the relationship between raspberry density and brain weight was assessed in a subgroup analysis once the primary statistical analysis had been performed. Brain atrophy is likely relevant to account for in some way, but the best approach may differ depending on the context. Methods other than standardisation for brain weight may need to be considered in some situations (see Discussion).

The inter-rater variability of raspberry quantification was examined in Paper I on haematoxylin and eosin-stained tissue sections from the frontal lobe (cortex). Since raspberry density is a continuous variable, the results of two independent raters were compared in a Bland–Altman plot. This approach does not come with a specific cutoff, but the results were deemed sufficiently reliable to allow further comparisons without changing the definition of raspberries.

In Paper I, an alternative method of raspberry quantification was applied: A subset of the tissue blocks underwent sectioning and immunohistochemical labelling for collagen 4 (Fig. 9). The raspberry density in these tissue sections was compared to that of the corresponding haematoxylin and eosin-stained sections. The immunohistochemical procedure was performed by biomedical analysts; the collagen 4 antibodies were already in clinical use at the laboratory. Collagen 4 is abundant in the basement membrane and labelling it will clearly distinguish the blood vessels from the surrounding parenchyma. While the immunohistochemically labelled tissue sections revealed more raspberries than did haematoxylin and eosin – becoming a limitation if one wishes to establish the absolute raspberry density – it was still possible to identify relative differences based on haematoxylin and eosin. As such, assessment of tissue sections already stained for haematoxylin and eosin during the neuropathological diagnostic procedure remained the main method of raspberry quantification.



Fig. 9

Cortical raspberries immunohistochemically labelled for collagen 4.

Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed in IBM SPSS Statistics (different versions). Data were analysed using non-parametric or parametric tests depending on the group sizes and the distribution of the outcome variable. In some contexts, a combination of parametric and non-parametric testing was performed. Small groups or non-normally distributed data were preferably analysed with non-parametric tests (the Kruskal-Wallis test, Dunn's post hoc test, the Mann-Whitney test, the Friedman test, or the Wilcoxon signed ranks test). Large and normally distributed data sets were preferably analysed using parametric tests (independent samples ttest, simple linear regression, multiple linear regression, or ANOVA followed by post hoc tests). A P value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant; Bonferroni correction for multiple tests was used when applicable. In two papers (Paper III and V), sample size calculations were performed in an attempt to estimate group sizes that would enable testing of the hypotheses with sufficient statistical power; such calculations were performed in Epitools [261]. Strategies to address confounding factors included either matching for age, sex, and examined brain region, or multiple linear regression.

Results

Overview

In total, the project was based on 511 individuals, some of whom were included in more than one study. When measured in the frontal cortex as raspberries/cm² without brain weight standardisation (possible in 500 cases), the mean raspberry density of the entire study sample was 6.6 raspberries/cm², the median raspberry density 5.0 raspberries/cm², and the total range 0–32.5 raspberries/cm² (median age 73; age range 20–97; 37% women; Fig. 10).

Some general features of raspberries

Some general features of raspberries have been reported in the papers; they are briefly summarised here while accompanied by some additional characteristics.

In many cases, raspberries only fulfil the minimum requirement of 3 lumen, in contrast to extreme cases, in which up to 20 lumen can be observed. The proportion of raspberries with many lumen may be higher in individuals with high raspberry density, such as in VaD (indicated in Paper I). The vascular lumen are generally no wider than 20 μ m in diameter with many lumen being closer to 10 μ m. The vessel walls tend to be labelled strongly and evenly by alpha-smooth muscle actin antibodies, indicating that most raspberries likely are arterioles (Fig. 11). Mild hyaline thickening of the vessel wall can occasionally be encountered. The distribution of raspberries within a tissue section is sometimes clusteriform rather than diffuse (Fig. 12); this may be partially dependent on the angle by which the cortex was cut, although I do not believe this to be a sufficient explanation for the full range of this pattern.



Fig. 10

Histogram depicting the variation in raspberry density (raspberries/cm²) as quantified in the frontal cortex without brain weight standardisation and regardless of underlying diagnosis (n = 500; median age 73; age range 20–97; 37% women).

Raspberries in relation to brain region

The regional distribution of raspberries was examined in Paper I and Paper III. In Paper I, the raspberry density was compared between the frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital cortex across the entire study sample. The statistically significant finding was a higher raspberry density in the frontal cortex compared to the occipital cortex. In Paper III, the raspberry quantification was expanded to include the basal ganglia, hippocampus, pons, cerebellum, and hemispheric white matter (centrum semiovale). Raspberries were frequent in cerebral grey matter, contrasting with sparse findings in cerebellum and centrum semiovale. I have not found a clear predilection for the external border zones (unpublished pilot study), perhaps indicating that if raspberries are indeed caused by hypoperfusion, other mechanisms than hypotension in combination with impaired/overrun cerebral autoregulation may be at play. However, a systematic examination of the raspberry 'gradient' along the cerebral convexities in bi-hemispherical tissue sections from cases selected based on a clinical context of long-standing hypotension has not been performed.



Fig. 11

Four shades of a cortical raspberry, including routine haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, and immunohistochemical labelling for alpha-smooth muscle actin (α SMA), endothelial marker CD31, and basement membrane marker collagen 4 (COL4).

Demographics: Age and sex

The potential association between raspberry-like vascular entities and increasing age has been observed by several authors, although only one previous study verified the results in a statistical analysis [246]. We initially included age in the statistical analysis in Paper II and III (range: 46–97 years); these studies demonstrated a weak positive association that was statistically inconclusive. Given the findings of other authors, we designed Paper IV with the primary aim of examining the relationship between raspberries and age, including establishing to what extent this relationship could be considered independent. The results demonstrated an increasing raspberry density when tested with non-parametric methods as well as multiple linear regression models. The major increase in raspberry density appeared to occur in the 60–69 or 70–79-year interval; the raspberry density may have begun to increase to a lesser extent from a younger age, but this was not verified in the statistical analyses. The raspberry density variance was higher among elderly individuals,

although a few outliers with high raspberry densities occurred even in the 40–49-year interval.

The raspberry density according to sex was documented in Paper II and was somewhat higher in women (not statistically significant). In Paper IV, this pattern reappeared and now achieved statistical significance.



Fig. 12 Clusteriform distribution of raspberries in the frontal cortex.

Clinical data and autopsy findings

These comparisons were made mainly in Paper II, III, and IV (most individuals in Paper IV were also included in Paper II or III).

In Paper II, the raspberry density did not differ between individuals based on presence of clinical hypertension, diabetes mellitus, orthostatic hypotension, atrial fibrillation, chronic heart failure, or a history of acute circulatory failure, nor did it differ based on autopsy findings of aortic atherosclerosis, cerebral small vessel disease, CAA, cerebral infarcts, or white matter disease. There was, however, a statistically significant association with cerebral atherosclerosis; subjects with cerebral atherosclerosis had on average a higher raspberry density than those who were free of this pathology. Descriptive data indicated that within the group with cerebral atherosclerosis, patients with a history of acute circulatory failure had an even higher raspberry density.

Due to the explorative nature of Paper II, the association between raspberry density and cerebral atherosclerosis was examined once more in an independent study sample (Paper III). Paper III also included acute circulatory failure, in line with the descriptive data from Paper II. The results of Paper III provided no indication that the raspberry density was affected by a history of acute circulatory failure; however, the results supported an association between raspberries and cerebral atherosclerosis, albeit weaker than previously indicated. The positive association between raspberry density and cerebral atherosclerosis was also observed in the multiple linear regression models in Paper IV (wherein the individuals from Paper II–III were included).

The multiple linear regression models applied in Paper IV further indicated a positive association between raspberry density and hypertension, but only when the clinical hypertension was subgrouped according to autopsy findings suggestive of hypertensive organ damage (cardiac hypertrophy in combination with either cerebral arteriolosclerosis or nephrosclerosis). As might be expected, non-hypertensive individuals (median age 65) were younger than hypertensive individuals; however, hypertensive individuals without organ damage were of a similar age as hypertensive individuals with organ damage (median age 74 and 74.5, respectively).

Paper IV also indicated an independent association between raspberry density and cardiac hypertrophy.

Vascular dementia and neurodegenerative diseases

The raspberry density in relation to VaD and/or neurodegenerative disease was examined as a primary aim in Paper I and Paper V. In Paper I, we compared the raspberry density between individuals with VaD, AD, FTLD, and control cases. In Paper V, we re-examined the raspberry density in FTLD in a larger study sample, while also examining LBD and control cases. In Paper I, a clinical diagnosis of dementia was required for inclusion in the disease groups; in Paper V, this was not a prerequisite for inclusion. TABLE

In Paper I, the raspberry density was the highest in VaD, which differed from all the other groups at a statistically significant level. The second highest raspberry density was observed in FTLD, followed by AD, and then control cases; these differences did not reach statistical significance. Later, a pilot study indicated an increased raspberry density in FTLD compared to control cases, whereas the raspberry density in AD now was similar to that in the control group. The increased raspberry density

in FTLD led us to examining the raspberry density in this disease group once more in a larger study sample (Paper V). The results demonstrated a higher raspberry density in FTLD compared to both LBD and controls at a statistically significant level; the LBD raspberry density was not indicated to differ from that in controls.

When examining the entire FTLD group, there was a statistically inconclusive tendency for a negative correlation between raspberry density and brain weight. Additional subgroup analyses of the FTLD group did not indicate differences in raspberry density based on underlying proteinopathy (tau, TDP-43, FUS, UPS, other/combined); neither was there any statistically significant differences between the neuropathological subtypes within the FTLD-tau or FTLD-TDP spectra. In the LBD group, descriptive data provided no indication of an increased raspberry density in patients with more severe (neocortical) LBD pathology or in cases with co-occurring ADNC; rather, these cases had a slightly lower raspberry density on average.

In Paper IV, the inclusion of data on neurodegenerative disease and VaD or vascular mild cognitive impairment aimed at excluding that such diagnoses affected the relation between raspberries and age. In this paper, the multiple linear regression models indicated a negative association between raspberry density and ADNC, thus contrasting the higher raspberry density observed in AD in Paper I.

Summary

The following variables demonstrated a statistically significant association with raspberry density which either remained after correction for multiple tests or was verified in an independent study sample: age, VaD, FTLD, and cerebral atherosclerosis. The following variables have been associated with raspberry density in an exploratory setting (not corrected for multiple tests): female sex, cardiac hypertrophy, hypertension subgrouped for organ damage, and ADNC.

Discussion

Raspberries and overlapping microvascular entities have attracted some attention from different authors throughout the years, from Alzheimer and Cerletti in the early 1900s, to Hassler in the 1960s, Cervos-Navarro et al. in the 1980s, and more contemporary observations by Arsene et al., Ighodaro et al., and us. Some previous attempts have been made to place these entities in a clinicopathological context, the recurring observation being an association with advancing age. However, many vascular and other pathological findings can be associated both with age as well as with acquired pathologies. As such, this study has attempted to narrow down the clinicopathological context of raspberries. Specifying this context is of value when directing the focus of future research on the pathogenesis, consequences, and clinical relevance of raspberries.

In the following sections, I have attempted to discuss the combined findings from the papers included in this thesis, while also addressing some topics that have not been examined directly in the papers.

Are raspberries vascular bundles? Are raspberries remodelled blood vessels or formed de novo?

This section focuses on the relationship between raspberries and a potential threedimensional correlate – vascular bundles – that has been observed by other authors. Some potential mechanisms by which vascular bundles – and possibly raspberries – could form are also discussed. We have not yet addressed these questions directly, but I believe they may be relevant to reflect upon in this forum.

One important question is whether raspberries are newly formed blood vessels or represent remodelling of the already existing vasculature. While the nomenclature has varied between different authors, the previously reported finding that I believe overlap the most with raspberries are arterioles running in parallel within a common perivascular space – termed 'vascular bundles' by Hassler (which he translated from Cerletti's 'Gefäßbündel') [238, 239] (Fig. 13). Not all authors have specified where in the vascular tree that vascular bundles occur. Those who have, mainly appoint them to the branching of intermediate and deep penetrating arterioles [21, 32, 33]. Prior to progressing into individual perivascular spaces, the penetrating arteriole

sometimes give off multiple branches that run in parallel for some distance – a vascular bundle. The same pattern has been encountered within the branches originating from the penetrating arterioles [21]. Consequently, in relation to the cortical surface, vascular bundles could be running perpendicularly – as penetrating arterioles – and diagonally or parallelly – as branches. Depending on the angle by which a cortical tissue block is cut – which could vary somewhat between different parts of the block due to the three-dimensional folding of gyri and sulci - any of these vascular bundles could be identified as a raspberry in a histopathological tissue section. If vascular bundles run mainly at a particular angle – perpendicular, diagonal, or parallel to the cortical surface - the raspberry density may vary somewhat within a tissue section depending on the angle of the cut. However, this may not explain the full extent of the clusteriform distribution of raspberries that can be encountered occasionally (while many cases have a more diffuse distribution). Perhaps a 'cluster' of raspberries all originate from one or a few adjacent penetrating arterioles, all affected by some underlying process resulting in raspberry formation, either at the level of the penetrating arteriole, or at the level of the pial vessel that supplies adjacent penetrants.



Fig. 13

Overview of a cortical vascular bundle with intertwining and branching vessels.

Another feature of vascular bundles reported by some authors is that they often intertwine like a rope (referred to as a separate entity, 'vascular wickerworks', by Hassler) [21, 32, 239]. However, intertwined or not, the authors who have examined these formations mainly concluded that they occurred due to an increase in arteriolar length, rather than atrophy of the surrounding parenchyma [239, 240]. If the surrounding parenchyma remained unchanged while the arterioles were elongated, the feature of multiple parallel arterioles within the same perivascular space could be expected to become more frequent, as would likely intertwining. If one supposes that such remodelling of the existing vasculature rather than de novo formation is the reason for variations in raspberry density, it could explain why raspberries occur mainly in certain brain regions – differences in branching patterns – and why they often occur in absence of any nearby focal lesions, as they may represent changes of chronical nature due to longstanding changes in the vascular environment.

As to why the arterioles would undergo remodelling - becoming elongated and intertwined - theories vary. In animal models of chronic hypoperfusion, arteriolar elongation and tortuosity has been observed [262], and it has been proposed that recurrent hypoxia could induce the same phenomenon in vascular bundles (and similar structures) [243]. However, since the increases in length and tortuosity were observed in collaterals [262], the affected vessels would have been exposed to increased perfusion [122]. Increased perfusion with altered shear stress is thought to be an important mechanism behind arteriogenesis, wherein smaller arterioles remodel into larger vessels [263]. According to one theory on the development of arterial/arteriolar tortuosity (a phenomenon that can be observed in arterioles in white matter and deep grey matter, as well as in arteries and arterioles in other parts of the body [122]), intraluminal pressure exceeding a certain threshold - for example, during increased perfusion – causes 'buckling' of the vessel [122]. The buckling results in uneven shear stress, leading to an equally uneven remodelling of the vessel, which would result in a permanent change in the vascular trajectory [122]. The threshold for when buckling occurs could be lowered by factors that weaken the vessel wall [122]. The theory has been applied mainly to explain arterial and arteriolar tortuosity affecting vessels of relatively larger calibre - I am not aware to what extent it can be translated to cortical arterioles, vascular bundles, and raspberries. For example, when Hassler quantified the abundance of vascular bundles in relation to arteriolar tortuosity (glomerular loop formations), he did not find a clear correlation between the two of them, perhaps indicating that the underlying mechanisms differ to some extent [240].

Another possibility is that raspberries are formed through de novo formation of blood vessels. Assuming that raspberries are mainly arterioles, this would require capillary sprouting – angiogenesis – followed by arteriogenesis. To my knowledge, whether arteriogenesis in adults occurs to some extent in vessels that were originally capillary sprouts formed in the adult individual – or solely by remodelling of pre-existing arterioles – is incompletely understood [264, 265].

As a final note, this section has been based on the assumption that raspberries are vascular bundles cut transversally – other potential three-dimensional correlates have not yet been excluded.

Clinicopathological characteristics of raspberries

In this section, the combined results of this thesis are discussed according to two major categories: raspberries in relation to vascular disease, and raspberries in relation to neurodegenerative disease. First, the association between raspberry density and age will be addressed in brief.

Age

Ageing is associated with alterations at the level of cells, tissues, and organs, affecting their function and structure, and increasing the risk of obtaining multiple diseases. Genetics and external factors may accelerate or decelerate this process, ultimately making it difficult to ascertain the exact influence of age on a studied phenomenon. In this thesis, we have attempted to examine to what extent age can be considered independently associated with raspberry density, by studying a wide age range while including multiple potential confounding factors in the analysis. Based on our results, it does indeed seem that the raspberry density is influenced by age. The results are in line with the findings of other authors on the synonymously defined 'multilumen vascular profiles' [246], and similar to many other vascular alterations, including arterial stiffening, arteriolar tortuosity, and arteriolosclerosis [95, 104, 126]. As such, raspberries can be considered a partially age-related phenomenon.

Vascular disease

However, like the age-dependent vascular alterations listed in the previous section, the abundance of raspberries can also be affected by factors beyond age. Provided that the statistically significant results from the papers – including the exploratory findings – are correct, how can they be interpreted?

Our results indicated positive associations between raspberries and cardiac hypertrophy, hypertension subgrouped for organ damage, cerebral atherosclerosis, and VaD, thus placing raspberries in a context of increased vascular burden. In this spectrum, VaD would represent an advanced stage of cerebrovascular disease, while variables that could occur in a context of less advanced cerebrovascular pathology include hypertension and cerebral atherosclerosis.

Cerebral atherosclerosis has been associated with microvascular alterations by some authors [149]; it may be difficult to conclude to what extent these entities share a causal relationship or simply represent vascular disease occurring at two different locations due to shared risk factors. Since our results indicate no more than a modest association between raspberry density and cerebral atherosclerosis, it is unlikely that cerebral atherosclerosis is an important cause of raspberry formation. More likely, both raspberries and cerebral atherosclerosis may be affected by similar factors, of which hypertension could represent one such common denominator.

There are many ways by which hypertension can affect the microvasculature. Increased intraluminal pressure may result in arterial buckling and tortuosity [122]. Endothelial dysfunction, microvascular rarefaction, and remodelling of the vascular wall have been proposed as potential contributors to reduced cerebral blood flow [55]. Perhaps a consequence of one of these processes could serve as a marker for the other processes. For example, even if the raspberries themselves were formed by other mechanisms than hypoperfusion (such as increased intra-luminal pressure), their presence could still be a marker indicating that the parenchyma was affected by hypoperfusion. This may be indirectly supported by the association between raspberries and VaD, given that some studies have demonstrated changes in protein levels suggestive of cortical hypoperfusion in this disease [170, 174]. While this is all speculation at this point, it would be interesting to examine further whether the raspberry density can be linked to similar signs of tissue hypoperfusion (see Outlook).

It is noteworthy that we did not find an association between raspberry density and arteriolosclerosis; they both occur in small vessels and appear to be associated with age, hypertension, and VaD. Excluding that such an association exists would likely require a semi-quantification of the arteriolosclerosis in relation to the raspberry density. This has not yet been performed by us; however, Ighodaro et al. semiquantified arteriolosclerosis in relation to multilumen vascular profiles (synonymous to raspberries) and did not find them to be associated [246]. Possible interpretations could be that raspberries reflect a vascular alteration that begins to form prior to arteriolosclerosis in the progressive development of cerebrovascular disease [143], or that the mechanisms by which raspberries form are partially different from those that lead to arteriolosclerosis. A major difference between arteriolosclerosis and raspberries is that raspberries occur in the cortex rather than the white matter, while the opposite holds true for arteriolosclerosis [101]. However, a location where both raspberries and arteriolosclerosis occur is the deep grey matter, as raspberries are frequently encountered in the basal ganglia. Considering these regional variations, it could be interesting to examine whether cortical associated with arteriolosclerosis raspberries mav be when grading arteriolosclerosis in white matter and deep grey matter separately. Due to the anatomy of the cerebral vasculature, the mechanisms leading to small vessel disease in white matter may differ from those in the deep grey matter [157]; if cortical raspberries were to be associated with arteriolosclerosis in one of these regions but not the other, it might provide some notion of the mechanisms that contribute to their formation.

Whether excessive raspberry formation should be considered a form of small vessel disease would depend on their consequences. Speculating (boldly), one potential consequence could be altered drainage of interstitial fluid. Neuropathological features that might be indicative of altered perivascular drainage include widened perivascular spaces and CAA [25, 120]. Widened perivascular spaces are not commonly encountered in the cortex, perhaps due to regional variations in the anatomy of the pial sheaths enwrapping the vessels [20, 266]. My interpretation has been that while raspberries are frequently surrounded by an 'empty' space, this may represent an artefact rather than a pathologically widened perivascular space. However, it could be interesting to explore whether there is any variation between raspberries and single-barrel vessels in the cortex. Our results have not indicated an association with CAA; like arteriolosclerosis, semi-quantification of the CAA in relation to the raspberry density would be required to exclude this association.

Another possibility is that raspberries exert a negative impact on blood flow. If raspberries represent vascular bundles with increased arteriolar length and tortuosity, they may be associated with increased resistance and reduced blood flow, as estimated by other authors [122, 123, 240]. Perhaps such abnormal blood flow could affect the risk of microinfarcts [23]. A systematic examination of microinfarcts in relation to raspberries has not been performed – since microinfarcts are an important substrate for VaD [267], such an examination might teach us more about the potential clinical relevance of raspberries.

In addition to these potential future studies, it may be relevant to measure the vascular density in raspberry-rich tissue sections, since raspberries have been identified as more abundant in conditions generally associated with unchanged or reduced vascular density (age [95], VaD [150], hypertension [55]). This may be achieved by assessment of immunohistochemically labelled tissue sections; the immunohistochemical approach also has the advantage of allowing some characterisation of other microvascular properties, such as increased capillary diameters (potentially indicative of compensatory dilation due to hypoperfusion [150, 211]), and presence of string vessels (potentially indicative of capillary regression [121, 150]). Are raspberries associated with an increase in total vascular density, or is the total density decreased, along with increased capillary diameters or signs of capillary regression? The results of such a study could more information about the pathological significance of a finding of increased raspberry density.

Neurodegenerative disease

We found an increased raspberry density in FTLD but not in AD and LBD.

In AD, the raspberry density might even be decreased according to the results in Paper IV and the descriptive data in Paper V; however, this is contradicted by the results in Paper I. Paper IV has limitations regarding the capacity of examining the association between raspberries and neurodegenerative disease; this was not the primary aim of this paper. While a negative association between raspberry density and AD may not be biologically implausible – if raspberries are associated with hypertension, and mild hypertension late in life is protective against AD [180, 181] – I would not conclude that the raspberry density is decreased in AD, given the conflicting results and the limitations associated with some of the findings.

The high raspberry density in FTLD stands in some contrast to the other findings of this thesis. One may not exclude that the underlying mechanisms differ from those that mediate increased raspberry density within a setting of high vascular disease burden. That the results indicate an increased raspberry density in FTLD but not in AD or LBD is equally intriguing. All conditions have been associated with vascular and circulatory abnormalities in some form. Biochemically, findings suggestive of cortical hypoperfusion have been reported in AD (reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient [170]), LBD (reduced MAG/PLP1 quotient [210]), and FTLD-TDP type A with *GRN* mutation (HIF expression [227]). All conditions have further been associated with regards to VEGF.

In AD, VEGF appears to be disproportionally increased in relation to the degree of hypoperfusion; in tandem, however, its availability may be reduced due to interactions between VEGF and amyloid beta [170, 187, 188]. The vascular density has been reported to be decreased in most studies [115].

In LBD, one study indicated that alpha-synuclein may inhibit VEGF expression and impair angiogenesis [210]. This and other studies demonstrated reduced capillary density in the cortex in LBD [150, 210, 211].

Similarly, a study by Gerrits et al. on the cortical gene expression in FTLD-TDP type A with *GRN* mutation reported reduced VEGF signalling; however, the expression VEGF-independent angiogenic factors was increased, as was the vascular density, even in areas that were unaffected by atrophy [227]. Increased vascular density and upregulation of angiogenic pathways in other diagnoses of the FTLD group have also been reported [224-226].

To my knowledge, it is not fully understood why expression of VEGF-independent angiogenic pathways resulting in increased vascular density would occur to a larger extent in (some types of) FTLD compared to other neurodegenerative diseases with reduced VEGF availability, or to what extent these potential differences are affected by variations in disease duration or age. From this perspective, it is notable that Paper V demonstrated an increased raspberry density in FTLD compared to LBD independent of age. It would be interesting to see whether the differences in raspberry density remain in the occipital cortex. Furthermore, clinical data on disease duration would be relevant.

If raspberries are indeed increased in the FTLD spectrum as a whole - or within part of the spectrum – it may add to recent studies on the pathophysiology of FTLD [224-227], such that vascular alterations may be a feature of FTLD that is not limited to specific mutations – even if the clinical significance of the raspberries themselves is currently unknown. Prior to making any such conclusions, however, our study population should be characterised in more detail. One important task will be to delineate the potential influence of brain atrophy on raspberry density. In our current results, we only found an inconclusive tendency towards a negative correlation between raspberry density and brain weight. However, as discussed under Methods, variations in brain weight may not be the optimal approach to examine the influence of atrophy in this setting. A rating of the atrophy within the examined tissue sections would likely be more informative, for example, by ranking the degree of cortical thinning [225]. An examination of the total vascular density and the presence of string vessels might provide further clues - if higher raspberry densities would correlate with findings of many string vessels in severely atrophic parenchyma, an influence of atrophy would be plausible, whereas the opposite results would point in another direction. Such investigations may further reveal whether the influence of atrophy varies between the different proteinopathies - for example, between FTLD-tau and FTLD-TDP.

Outlook

In addition to the methods available at our lab, we are currently planning for the application of other techniques and approaches in collaboration with fellow research groups, including three-dimensional visualisation of raspberries, transcriptomics, and animal models. A brief outlook is provided.

We have not yet performed a systematic three-dimensional visualisation of raspberries. As such, we do not know to what extent the three-dimensional correlates of raspberries are restricted to vascular bundles at the branching segments of arterioles. A study with the specific aim of defining the full three-dimensional spectrum of raspberries would be of value. One potential method of three-dimensional visualisation connotes software-assisted reconstruction of serially sectioned tissue blocks or biopsies (Fig. 14); this method has been applied by other authors on such structures as developing kidneys [268], pulmonary microvessels [269], and recently bone marrow [270]. Another technique by which three-dimensional visualisation can be achieved is microcomputed tomography (Fig. 15), previously applied in the study of microvascular pathology such as capillary dysplasia in the lung [271]. One advantage of both serial sections and microcomputed tomography is that they enable the use of formalin-fixed paraffinembedded tissue, thus allowing the examination of archival brain tissue that can be selected based on histopathological or other characteristics.



Fig. 14

Cortical tissue sections cut serially and immunohistochemically labelled for collagen 4.

Single cell transcriptomics provide information on the gene expression in different cell populations. In the context of raspberries, this technique could provide data beyond the histopathology regarding the composition and state of the tissue, thus improving our understanding of what a finding of abundant raspberries within a tissue section might represent. One challenge lies in correlating the gene expression with the raspberry density; the raspberry density of the tissue being freshly frozen for transcriptomics may need to be estimated from an adjacent tissue block that is being formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded.



Fig. 15

Identification of potential raspberry correlates by microcomputed tomography of cortical formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue blocks. Courtesy of Martin Bech.

Ultimately, the question of whether cortical raspberries form because of hypoperfusion may require support from animal models of chronic hypoperfusion to prove or disprove. Capable of inducing features similar to human small vessel disease and white matter disease, animal models of chronic hypoperfusion may provide clues on whether raspberries and white matter arteriolosclerosis form by similar mechanisms. To my knowledge, only one previous study has looked at raspberry-like formations in animals – Hassler identified intermediate forms of the

studied vascular entities (glomerular loop formations/arteriolar tortuosity, vascular bundles, and vascular wickerworks) in dogs and horses but not in guinea pigs; the examined animals exhibited signs of old age and had not undergone any interventions [239]. The potential influence of differences in vascular anatomy between humans and animals should be considered.

Conclusion

I wrote before about a jungle of small vessel alterations, but perhaps it can be likened to a garden as well. In the garden, various scientists take an interest in particular aspects of the different plants, be it the branches (arteries), leaves (capillaries), the pot that waters the plant (the heart), or – as in this thesis – the raspberries, that grow on some of its minor twigs.

Putting it more frankly, this study has examined a microvascular, neuropathological feature termed 'raspberry', a finding frequently encountered in the cerebral cortex and deep grey matter but rarely in the white matter. By measuring the raspberry density in the neocortex, the clinicopathological characteristics of inter-individual variations in raspberry density have been outlined.

The raspberry density is positively associated with increasing age, also when including multiple potential confounding factors in the analysis. The major increase may occur in the 7th or 8th decade of life, although the average age of onset may be lower. As such, raspberries can be considered a partially age-related feature.

However, positive associations between raspberry density and cerebral atherosclerosis, hypertension subgrouped for organ damage (exploratory), and vascular dementia indicate that the raspberry density is further increased in a context of higher vascular disease burden.

Regarding neurodegenerative diseases, the main finding of this thesis is an increased raspberry density in frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) but not in Lewy body disease or Alzheimer's disease. Recent studies by other authors have indicated neurovascular dysfunction in the pathogenesis within part of the FTLD spectrum. The significance of the increased raspberry density in FTLD is unknown, and the immediate future research should focus on determining whether the influence of brain atrophy on raspberry density varies within this heterogeneous group of diseases.

Important steps towards improving our understanding of raspberries include a more detailed examination of raspberries in relation to total vascular density, regional arteriolosclerosis, cerebral amyloid angiopathy, and cortical microinfarcts, and an examination of the gene expression in raspberry-rich brain tissue.
A potential correlate of raspberries connotes vascular bundles that form at the branching segments of cortical arterioles – a systematic examination of the threedimensional spectrum of raspberries would be of value to strengthen or refute this view.

In addition to our original hypothesis on hypoperfusion as the driving force behind raspberry formation, theories on the formation of arteriolar tortuosity may be considered. Whether raspberries form in a context of chronic hypoperfusion may be tested in animal models; such studies may further entail whether raspberries form by similar mechanisms as white matter arteriolosclerosis.

Fully establishing the pathogenesis, consequences, and clinical relevance of raspberries has not yet been achieved, but the current thesis presents an initial attempt to narrow down the clinicopathological characteristics beyond age.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded by Lund University, Region Skane, and the Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for Medical Research.

To my supervisor, Professor Elisabet Englund: Thank you for your support during the entirety of this PhD project and beyond, from initial interviews in Sonden (which introduced me to your rocket-fuel coffee) and the collaboration during the very, very first study on raspberries that seems so long ago – to your continued guidance today, as the path of the raspberry is beginning to branch. Your impact on the sprouting (angiogenic term) of me and other students over the years cannot be understated.

My co-supervisor, Mattias Haglund: Thank you for your clinical perspective – much-appreciated, much-needed – and the ability to notice things that the rest of us miss. Your feedback has shaped this project, perhaps more than you know.

Many thanks to the neuropathologists in Lund for introducing me to the clinical side of the force with enthusiasm and patience – Xavi, Inga, Eva. My equal gratitude to the biomedical analysts in the neuro-team – Ulla-Karin, Sandra, Henrik, Rebecca, Gustav – for your technical expertise, as well as your tangible advice during my still early days as a resident.

I am grateful to Clinical Genetics, Pathology, and Molecular Diagnostics, Region Skane, for letting me work in their facilities – a necessity to perform any of the research included in this project – and for accepting me as a resident. A special thank you to Charlotta Hedner, my clinical supervisor, for your support and advice on how to combine clinical work and research in a healthy mix.

Thank you to all the students who have taken part in the research on raspberries throughout the course of the project – Tone, Jenny, Thea, Khrystyna, Daniel, Emma. Your hard work and intelligent perspectives are deeply appreciated.

I am grateful to our collaborators from fellow research groups – Tadeusz Wieloch, Johan Jakobsson, Martin Bech – for your interest in this peculiar microvascular entity, and for your wise input.

Many thanks to Susann Ullén for sharing your statistical expertise during the years.

Finally, my parents and sisters – Mats, Helene, Maria, Victoria (the artist behind the cover art!) – whom I can always rely on for support throughout the highs and lows of life.

References

- 1. Carlson B. Formation of Germ Layers and Early Derivatives. In: Carlson B, editor. Human Embryology and Developmental Biology2024. p. 75-91.e2.
- 2. Strilić B, Kucera T, Lammert E. Formation of cardiovascular tubes in invertebrates and vertebrates. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2010;67(19):3209-18.
- 3. Carlson B. Nervous System. In: Carlson B, editor. Human Embryology and Developmental Biology2024. p. 218-56.e2.
- 4. Ribatti D, Crivellato E. "Sprouting angiogenesis", a reappraisal. Developmental biology. 2012;372(2):157-65.
- Gerhardt H, Golding M, Fruttiger M, Ruhrberg C, Lundkvist A, Abramsson A, et al. VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J Cell Biol. 2003;161(6):1163-77.
- Raab S, Beck H, Gaumann A, Yüce A, Gerber HP, Plate K, et al. Impaired brain angiogenesis and neuronal apoptosis induced by conditional homozygous inactivation of vascular endothelial growth factor. Thromb Haemost. 2004;91(3):595-605.
- 7. Carlson B. Cardiovascular System. In: Carlson B, editor. Human Embryology and Developmental Biology2024. p. 420-65.e3.
- 8. Semenza GL. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1: mechanisms and consequences. Biochem Pharmacol. 2000;59(1):47-53.
- 9. Skalak TC, Price RJ. The role of mechanical stresses in microvascular remodeling. Microcirculation (New York, NY : 1994). 1996;3(2):143-65.
- 10. Wälchli T, Bisschop J, Carmeliet P, Zadeh G, Monnier PP, De Bock K, et al. Shaping the brain vasculature in development and disease in the single-cell era. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2023;24(5):271-98.
- 11. Fagiani E, Christofori G. Angiopoietins in angiogenesis. Cancer Lett. 2013;328(1):18-26.
- 12. Greenberg DA, Jin K. From angiogenesis to neuropathology. Nature. 2005;438(7070):954-9.
- 13. Iadecola C. The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. Neuron. 2017;96(1):17-42.
- Coelho-Santos V, Berthiaume AA, Ornelas S, Stuhlmann H, Shih AY. Imaging the construction of capillary networks in the neonatal mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2021;118(26).
- 15. Carmeliet P. Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nature medicine. 2000;6(4):389-95.

- 16. Naldini A, Carraro F. Role of inflammatory mediators in angiogenesis. Current drug targets Inflammation and allergy. 2005;4(1):3-8.
- 17. Chandra A, Li WA, Stone CR, Geng X, Ding Y. The cerebral circulation and cerebrovascular disease I: Anatomy. Brain circulation. 2017;3(2):45-56.
- Zhang ET, Inman CB, Weller RO. Interrelationships of the pia mater and the perivascular (Virchow-Robin) spaces in the human cerebrum. J Anat. 1990;170:111-23.
- 19. Paulsen F. Brain and spinal cord. In: Paulsen F, editor. Sobotta Atlas of Anatomy, Volume 32023. p. 281-476.
- 20. Pollock H, Hutchings M, Weller RO, Zhang ET. Perivascular spaces in the basal ganglia of the human brain: their relationship to lacunes. J Anat. 1997;191 (Pt 3)(Pt 3):337-46.
- 21. Duvernoy HM, Delon S, Vannson JL. Cortical blood vessels of the human brain. Brain research bulletin. 1981;7(5):519-79.
- 22. Momjian-Mayor I, Baron JC. The pathophysiology of watershed infarction in internal carotid artery disease: review of cerebral perfusion studies. Stroke. 2005;36(3):567-77.
- 23. Mangla R, Kolar B, Almast J, Ekholm SE. Border zone infarcts: pathophysiologic and imaging characteristics. Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc. 2011;31(5):1201-14.
- 24. van der Zwan A, Hillen B, Tulleken CA, Dujovny M, Dragovic L. Variability of the territories of the major cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg. 1992;77(6):927-40.
- 25. Weller RO, Hawkes CA, Kalaria RN, Werring DJ, Carare RO. White matter changes in dementia: role of impaired drainage of interstitial fluid. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2015;25(1):63-78.
- 26. Blevins BL, Vinters HV, Love S, Wilcock DM, Grinberg LT, Schneider JA, et al. Brain arteriolosclerosis. Acta Neuropathol. 2021;141(1):1-24.
- Agarwal N, Carare RO. Cerebral Vessels: An Overview of Anatomy, Physiology, and Role in the Drainage of Fluids and Solutes. Frontiers in neurology. 2020;11:611485.
- 28. Bleys RL, Cowen T, Groen GJ, Hillen B, Ibrahim NB. Perivascular nerves of the human basal cerebral arteries: I. Topographical distribution. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 1996;16(5):1034-47.
- 29. Hamel E. Perivascular nerves and the regulation of cerebrovascular tone. Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md : 1985). 2006;100(3):1059-64.
- Lecrux C, Hamel E. Neuronal networks and mediators of cortical neurovascular coupling responses in normal and altered brain states. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2016;371(1705).
- Reina-De La Torre F, Rodriguez-Baeza A, Sahuquillo-Barris J. Morphological characteristics and distribution pattern of the arterial vessels in human cerebral cortex: a scanning electron microscope study. The Anatomical record. 1998;251(1):87-96.

- Akima M, Nonaka H, Kagesawa M, Tanaka K. A study on the microvasculature of the cerebral cortex. Fundamental architecture and its senile change in the frontal cortex. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 1986;55(4):482-9.
- 33. Rowbotham GF, Little E. The candelabra arteries and the circulation of the cerebral cortex. Br J Surg. 1963;50:694-7.
- Kadry H, Noorani B, Cucullo L. A blood-brain barrier overview on structure, function, impairment, and biomarkers of integrity. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2020;17(1):69.
- 35. Kubíková T, Kochová P, Tomášek P, Witter K, Tonar Z. Numerical and length densities of microvessels in the human brain: Correlation with preferential orientation of microvessels in the cerebral cortex, subcortical grey matter and white matter, pons and cerebellum. J Chem Neuroanat. 2018;88:22-32.
- 36. Iliff JJ, Wang M, Liao Y, Plogg BA, Peng W, Gundersen GA, et al. A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(147):147ra11.
- 37. Nedergaard M. Neuroscience. Garbage truck of the brain. Science. 2013;340(6140):1529-30.
- 38. Rink C, Khanna S. Significance of brain tissue oxygenation and the arachidonic acid cascade in stroke. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;14(10):1889-903.
- 39. Lassen NA. Normal average value of cerebral blood flow in younger adults is 50 ml/100 g/min. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 1985;5(3):347-9.
- 40. Helenius J, Perkiö J, Soinne L, Østergaard L, Carano RA, Salonen O, et al. Cerebral hemodynamics in a healthy population measured by dynamic susceptibility contrast MR imaging. Acta Radiol. 2003;44(5):538-46.
- 41. Zarrinkoob L, Ambarki K, Wåhlin A, Birgander R, Eklund A, Malm J. Blood flow distribution in cerebral arteries. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2015;35(4):648-54.
- 42. Duran J, Guinovart JJ. Brain glycogen in health and disease. Mol Aspects Med. 2015;46:70-7.
- Kaufmann H, Norcliffe-Kaufmann L, Palma JA. Baroreflex Dysfunction. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(2):163-78.
- 44. Lassen NA. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. Physiological reviews. 1959;39(2):183-238.
- Numan T, Bain AR, Hoiland RL, Smirl JD, Lewis NC, Ainslie PN. Static autoregulation in humans: a review and reanalysis. Med Eng Phys. 2014;36(11):1487-95.
- Knot HJ, Nelson MT. Regulation of arterial diameter and wall [Ca2+] in cerebral arteries of rat by membrane potential and intravascular pressure. The Journal of physiology. 1998;508 (Pt 1)(Pt 1):199-209.

- 47. Claassen J, Thijssen DHJ, Panerai RB, Faraci FM. Regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. Physiological reviews. 2021;101(4):1487-559.
- 48. Warnert EAH, Hart EC, Hall JE, Murphy K, Wise RG. The major cerebral arteries proximal to the Circle of Willis contribute to cerebrovascular resistance in humans. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2016;36(8):1384-95.
- 49. Tian R, Vogel P, Lassen NA, Mulvany MJ, Andreasen F, Aalkjaer C. Role of extracellular and intracellular acidosis for hypercapnia-induced inhibition of tension of isolated rat cerebral arteries. Circulation research. 1995;76(2):269-75.
- Kim KJ, Ramiro Diaz J, Iddings JA, Filosa JA. Vasculo-Neuronal Coupling: Retrograde Vascular Communication to Brain Neurons. J Neurosci. 2016;36(50):12624-39.
- Grubb S, Lauritzen M, Aalkjær C. Brain capillary pericytes and neurovascular coupling. Comparative biochemistry and physiology Part A, Molecular & integrative physiology. 2021;254:110893.
- 52. Aydin F, Rosenblum WI, Povlishock JT. Myoendothelial junctions in human brain arterioles. Stroke. 1991;22(12):1592-7.
- 53. Longden TA, Dabertrand F, Koide M, Gonzales AL, Tykocki NR, Brayden JE, et al. Capillary K(+)-sensing initiates retrograde hyperpolarization to increase local cerebral blood flow. Nat Neurosci. 2017;20(5):717-26.
- 54. Deanfield JE, Halcox JP, Rabelink TJ. Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance. Circulation. 2007;115(10):1285-95.
- 55. Ungvari Z, Toth P, Tarantini S, Prodan CI, Sorond F, Merkely B, et al. Hypertension-induced cognitive impairment: from pathophysiology to public health. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2021;17(10):639-54.
- 56. Creager MA, Lüscher TF, Cosentino F, Beckman JA. Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: Part I. Circulation. 2003;108(12):1527-32.
- 57. Kazama K, Anrather J, Zhou P, Girouard H, Frys K, Milner TA, et al. Angiotensin II impairs neurovascular coupling in neocortex through NADPH oxidase-derived radicals. Circulation research. 2004;95(10):1019-26.
- 58. Ferrucci L, Fabbri E. Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty. Nature reviews Cardiology. 2018;15(9):505-22.
- 59. Csordas A, Bernhard D. The biology behind the atherothrombotic effects of cigarette smoke. Nature reviews Cardiology. 2013;10(4):219-30.
- 60. Ungvari Z, Kaley G, de Cabo R, Sonntag WE, Csiszar A. Mechanisms of vascular aging: new perspectives. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2010;65(10):1028-41.
- 61. Wardlaw JM, Smith C, Dichgans M. Small vessel disease: mechanisms and clinical implications. The Lancet Neurology. 2019;18(7):684-96.
- 62. Ciacciarelli A, Sette G, Giubilei F, Orzi F. Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion: An undefined, relevant entity. Journal of clinical neuroscience : official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia. 2020;73:8-12.

- 63. Duncombe J, Kitamura A, Hase Y, Ihara M, Kalaria RN, Horsburgh K. Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion: a key mechanism leading to vascular cognitive impairment and dementia. Closing the translational gap between rodent models and human vascular cognitive impairment and dementia. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2017;131(19):2451-68.
- 64. Toth P, Tarantini S, Csiszar A, Ungvari Z. Functional vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: mechanisms and consequences of cerebral autoregulatory dysfunction, endothelial impairment, and neurovascular uncoupling in aging. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2017;312(1):H1-h20.
- 65. Fujishima M, Ibayashi S, Fujii K, Mori S. Cerebral blood flow and brain function in hypertension. Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension. 1995;18(2):111-7.
- 66. Christie IN, Windsor R, Mutsaerts HJ, Tillin T, Sudre CH, Hughes AD, et al. Cerebral perfusion in untreated, controlled, and uncontrolled hypertension. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2022;42(12):2188-90.
- 67. van Rijssel AE, Stins BC, Beishon LC, Sanders ML, Quinn TJ, Claassen J, et al. Effect of Antihypertensive Treatment on Cerebral Blood Flow in Older Adults: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2022;79(5):1067-78.
- 68. Lipsitz LA, Gagnon M, Vyas M, Iloputaife I, Kiely DK, Sorond F, et al. Antihypertensive therapy increases cerebral blood flow and carotid distensibility in hypertensive elderly subjects. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2005;45(2):216-21.
- 69. Tryambake D, He J, Firbank MJ, O'Brien JT, Blamire AM, Ford GA. Intensive blood pressure lowering increases cerebral blood flow in older subjects with hypertension. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2013;61(6):1309-15.
- 70. Román GC. Brain hypoperfusion: a critical factor in vascular dementia. Neurological research. 2004;26(5):454-8.
- 71. Gruhn N, Larsen FS, Boesgaard S, Knudsen GM, Mortensen SA, Thomsen G, et al. Cerebral blood flow in patients with chronic heart failure before and after heart transplantation. Stroke. 2001;32(11):2530-3.
- 72. Alves TC, Rays J, Fráguas R, Jr., Wajngarten M, Meneghetti JC, Prando S, et al. Localized cerebral blood flow reductions in patients with heart failure: a study using 99mTc-HMPAO SPECT. J Neuroimaging. 2005;15(2):150-6.
- 73. Choi BR, Kim JS, Yang YJ, Park KM, Lee CW, Kim YH, et al. Factors associated with decreased cerebral blood flow in congestive heart failure secondary to idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. The American journal of cardiology. 2006;97(9):1365-9.
- 74. Vogels RL, van der Flier WM, van Harten B, Gouw AA, Scheltens P, Schroeder-Tanka JM, et al. Brain magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities in patients with heart failure. European journal of heart failure. 2007;9(10):1003-9.
- 75. Stegmann T, Chu ML, Witte VA, Villringer A, Kumral D, Riedel-Heller SG, et al. Heart failure is independently associated with white matter lesions: insights from the population-based LIFE-Adult Study. ESC heart failure. 2021;8(1):697-704.

- 76. Almeida OP, Garrido GJ, Beer C, Lautenschlager NT, Arnolda L, Flicker L. Cognitive and brain changes associated with ischaemic heart disease and heart failure. European heart journal. 2012;33(14):1769-76.
- 77. Frey A, Sell R, Homola GA, Malsch C, Kraft P, Gunreben I, et al. Cognitive Deficits and Related Brain Lesions in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. JACC Heart failure. 2018;6(7):583-92.
- 78. Kumar R, Nguyen HD, Ogren JA, Macey PM, Thompson PM, Fonarow GC, et al. Global and regional putamen volume loss in patients with heart failure. European journal of heart failure. 2011;13(6):651-5.
- 79. Gardarsdottir M, Sigurdsson S, Aspelund T, Rokita H, Launer LJ, Gudnason V, et al. Atrial fibrillation is associated with decreased total cerebral blood flow and brain perfusion. Europace : European pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac electrophysiology : journal of the working groups on cardiac pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac cellular electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. 2018;20(8):1252-8.
- 80. Stefansdottir H, Arnar DO, Aspelund T, Sigurdsson S, Jonsdottir MK, Hjaltason H, et al. Atrial fibrillation is associated with reduced brain volume and cognitive function independent of cerebral infarcts. Stroke. 2013;44(4):1020-5.
- 81. Knecht S, Oelschläger C, Duning T, Lohmann H, Albers J, Stehling C, et al. Atrial fibrillation in stroke-free patients is associated with memory impairment and hippocampal atrophy. European heart journal. 2008;29(17):2125-32.
- 82. Buckley A, Carey D, Meaney JM, Kenny R, Harbison J. Is there an association between orthostatic hypotension and cerebral white matter hyperintensities in older people? The Irish longitudinal study on ageing. JRSM cardiovascular disease. 2020;9:2048004020954628.
- 83. Sambati L, Calandra-Buonaura G, Poda R, Guaraldi P, Cortelli P. Orthostatic hypotension and cognitive impairment: a dangerous association? Neurol Sci. 2014;35(6):951-7.
- Jacob MA, Cai M, Jansen MG, van Elderen N, Bergkamp M, Claassen J, et al. Orthostatic hypotension is not associated with small vessel disease progression or cognitive decline. Cereb Circ Cogn Behav. 2021;2:100032.
- 85. Goh FQ, Kong WKF, Wong RCC, Chong YF, Chew NWS, Yeo TC, et al. Cognitive Impairment in Heart Failure-A Review. Biology (Basel). 2022;11(2).
- 86. Mitchell RN, Halushka MK. Blood Vessels. In: Kumar V, Abbas AK, Aster JC, editors. Robbins & Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease2021. p. 485-525.
- 87. Boulanger CM. Highlight on Endothelial Activation and Beyond. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2018;38(12):e198-e201.
- Kalaria R, Ferrer I, Love S. Vascular Disease, Hypoxia and Related Conditions. In: Love S, Budka H, Ironside JW, Perry A, editors. Greenfield's Neuropathology. 9 ed2015.
- 89. Pantoni L. Cerebral small vessel disease: from pathogenesis and clinical characteristics to therapeutic challenges. The Lancet Neurology. 2010;9(7):689-701.
- 90. Zheng L, Vinters HV, Mack WJ, Zarow C, Ellis WG, Chui HC. Cerebral atherosclerosis is associated with cystic infarcts and microinfarcts but not Alzheimer pathologic changes. Stroke. 2013;44(10):2835-41.

- 91. Ziegler MG. Atherosclerosis and Blood Pressure Variability. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2018;71(3):403-5.
- 92. Han H, Zhang R, Liu G, Qiao H, Chen Z, Liu Y, et al. Reduction of cerebral blood flow in community-based adults with subclinical cerebrovascular atherosclerosis: A 3.0T magnetic resonance imaging study. NeuroImage. 2019;188:302-8.
- 93. Park JH, Kwon HM, Lee J, Kim DS, Ovbiagele B. Association of intracranial atherosclerotic stenosis with severity of white matter hyperintensities. Eur J Neurol. 2015;22(1):44-52, e2-3.
- 94. Moroni F, Ammirati E, Magnoni M, D'Ascenzo F, Anselmino M, Anzalone N, et al. Carotid atherosclerosis, silent ischemic brain damage and brain atrophy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2016;223:681-7.
- 95. Zimmerman B, Rypma B, Gratton G, Fabiani M. Age-related changes in cerebrovascular health and their effects on neural function and cognition: A comprehensive review. Psychophysiology. 2021;58(7):e13796.
- 96. Cremer A, Boutouyrie P, Laurent S, Gosse P, Tzourio C. Orthostatic hypotension: a marker of blood pressure variability and arterial stiffness: a cross-sectional study on an elderly population: the 3-City study. Journal of hypertension. 2020;38(6):1103-9.
- 97. Shi Y, Thrippleton MJ, Blair GW, Dickie DA, Marshall I, Hamilton I, et al. Small vessel disease is associated with altered cerebrovascular pulsatility but not resting cerebral blood flow. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2020;40(1):85-99.
- van Sloten TT, Protogerou AD, Henry RM, Schram MT, Launer LJ, Stehouwer CD. Association between arterial stiffness, cerebral small vessel disease and cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;53:121-30.
- 99. Lammie GA, Brannan F, Slattery J, Warlow C. Nonhypertensive cerebral small-vessel disease. An autopsy study. Stroke. 1997;28(11):2222-9.
- 100. Lammie GA. Hypertensive cerebral small vessel disease and stroke. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2002;12(3):358-70.
- 101. Thal DR, Grinberg LT, Attems J. Vascular dementia: different forms of vessel disorders contribute to the development of dementia in the elderly brain. Experimental gerontology. 2012;47(11):816-24.
- 102. Neltner JH, Abner EL, Baker S, Schmitt FA, Kryscio RJ, Jicha GA, et al. Arteriolosclerosis that affects multiple brain regions is linked to hippocampal sclerosis of ageing. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2014;137(Pt 1):255-67.
- 103. Wang Z, Chen Q, Chen J, Yang N, Zheng K. Risk factors of cerebral small vessel disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(51):e28229.
- 104. Ighodaro ET, Abner EL, Fardo DW, Lin AL, Katsumata Y, Schmitt FA, et al. Risk factors and global cognitive status related to brain arteriolosclerosis in elderly individuals. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2017;37(1):201-16.

- 105. Khan U, Porteous L, Hassan A, Markus HS. Risk factor profile of cerebral small vessel disease and its subtypes. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2007;78(7):702-6.
- 106. Shi Y, Thrippleton MJ, Makin SD, Marshall I, Geerlings MI, de Craen AJM, et al. Cerebral blood flow in small vessel disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2016;36(10):1653-67.
- 107. Sam K, Crawley AP, Conklin J, Poublanc J, Sobczyk O, Mandell DM, et al. Development of White Matter Hyperintensity Is Preceded by Reduced Cerebrovascular Reactivity. Ann Neurol. 2016;80(2):277-85.
- 108. Kang P, Ying C, Chen Y, Ford AL, An H, Lee JM. Oxygen Metabolic Stress and White Matter Injury in Patients With Cerebral Small Vessel Disease. Stroke. 2022;53(5):1570-9.
- 109. Wardlaw JM, Makin SJ, Valdés Hernández MC, Armitage PA, Heye AK, Chappell FM, et al. Blood-brain barrier failure as a core mechanism in cerebral small vessel disease and dementia: evidence from a cohort study. Alzheimers Dement. 2017;13(6):634-43.
- 110. Fernando MS, Simpson JE, Matthews F, Brayne C, Lewis CE, Barber R, et al. White matter lesions in an unselected cohort of the elderly: molecular pathology suggests origin from chronic hypoperfusion injury. Stroke. 2006;37(6):1391-8.
- 111. Giwa MO, Williams J, Elderfield K, Jiwa NS, Bridges LR, Kalaria RN, et al. Neuropathologic evidence of endothelial changes in cerebral small vessel disease. Neurology. 2012;78(3):167-74.
- 112. Barker R, Wellington D, Esiri MM, Love S. Assessing white matter ischemic damage in dementia patients by measurement of myelin proteins. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2013;33(7):1050-7.
- 113. Love S, Miners JS. Cerebral Hypoperfusion and the Energy Deficit in Alzheimer's Disease. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2016;26(5):607-17.
- 114. McAleese KE, Graham S, Dey M, Walker L, Erskine D, Johnson M, et al. Extravascular fibrinogen in the white matter of Alzheimer's disease and normal aged brains: implications for fibrinogen as a biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2019;29(3):414-24.
- 115. Fisher RA, Miners JS, Love S. Pathological changes within the cerebral vasculature in Alzheimer's disease: New perspectives. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2022;32(6):e13061.
- 116. Haglund M, Passant U, Sjöbeck M, Ghebremedhin E, Englund E. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy and cortical microinfarcts as putative substrates of vascular dementia. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2006;21(7):681-7.
- 117. Okamoto Y, Ihara M, Fujita Y, Ito H, Takahashi R, Tomimoto H. Cortical microinfarcts in Alzheimer's disease and subcortical vascular dementia. Neuroreport. 2009;20(11):990-6.

- 118. Thal DR, Capetillo-Zarate E, Larionov S, Staufenbiel M, Zurbruegg S, Beckmann N. Capillary cerebral amyloid angiopathy is associated with vessel occlusion and cerebral blood flow disturbances. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30(12):1936-48.
- 119. Haglund M, Englund E. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy, white matter lesions and Alzheimer encephalopathy a histopathological assessment. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2002;14(3):161-6.
- 120. Roher AE, Kuo YM, Esh C, Knebel C, Weiss N, Kalback W, et al. Cortical and leptomeningeal cerebrovascular amyloid and white matter pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Mol Med. 2003;9(3-4):112-22.
- 121. Brown WR, Thore CR. Review: cerebral microvascular pathology in ageing and neurodegeneration. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2011;37(1):56-74.
- 122. Han HC. Twisted blood vessels: symptoms, etiology and biomechanical mechanisms. J Vasc Res. 2012;49(3):185-97.
- 123. Moody DM, Santamore WP, Bell MA. Does tortuosity in cerebral arterioles impair down-autoregulation in hypertensives and elderly normotensives? A hypothesis and computer model. Clin Neurosurg. 1991;37:372-87.
- 124. Hiroki M, Miyashita K, Oda M. Tortuosity of the white matter medullary arterioles is related to the severity of hypertension. Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland). 2002;13(4):242-50.
- 125. Poni ES, Liwnicz BH, Ying-Ying Y, North M. Tortuosity of terminal arterioles in the basal ganglia is increased in status lacunaris. Invest Clin. 2003;44(2):137-45.
- 126. Thore CR, Anstrom JA, Moody DM, Challa VR, Marion MC, Brown WR. Morphometric analysis of arteriolar tortuosity in human cerebral white matter of preterm, young, and aged subjects. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2007;66(5):337-45.
- 127. Xu X, Wu X, Zhu C, Zhang R, Jiaerken Y, Wang S, et al. Characterization of Lenticulostriate Arteries and Its Associations With Vascular Risk Factors in Community-Dwelling Elderly. Frontiers in aging neuroscience. 2021;13:685571.
- 128. Dirnagl U, Iadecola C, Moskowitz MA. Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. Trends Neurosci. 1999;22(9):391-7.
- 129. Doyle KP, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP. Mechanisms of ischemic brain damage. Neuropharmacology. 2008;55(3):310-8.
- Nirmala JG, Lopus M. Cell death mechanisms in eukaryotes. Cell Biol Toxicol. 2020;36(2):145-64.
- 131. Hossmann KA. Glutamate-mediated injury in focal cerebral ischemia: the excitotoxin hypothesis revised. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 1994;4(1):23-36.
- 132. Moustafa RR, Baron JC. Pathophysiology of ischaemic stroke: insights from imaging, and implications for therapy and drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;153 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S44-54.
- Beck H, Plate KH. Angiogenesis after cerebral ischemia. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;117(5):481-96.

- 134. Issa R, Krupinski J, Bujny T, Kumar S, Kaluza J, Kumar P. Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor, KDR, in human brain tissue after ischemic stroke. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 1999;79(4):417-25.
- 135. Krupinski J, Kaluza J, Kumar P, Kumar S, Wang JM. Role of angiogenesis in patients with cerebral ischemic stroke. Stroke. 1994;25(9):1794-8.
- 136. Slevin M, Krupinski J, Rovira N, Turu M, Luque A, Baldellou M, et al. Identification of pro-angiogenic markers in blood vessels from stroked-affected brain tissue using laser-capture microdissection. BMC genomics. 2009;10:113.
- 137. Nedergaard M, Astrup J, Klinken L. Cell density and cortex thickness in the border zone surrounding old infarcts in the human brain. Stroke. 1984;15(6):1033-9.
- 138. Nedergaard M, Vorstrup S, Astrup J. Cell density in the border zone around old small human brain infarcts. Stroke. 1986;17(6):1129-37.
- 139. Englund E. Neuropathology of white matter changes in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 1998;9 Suppl 1:6-12.
- 140. Björklund E, Lindberg E, Rundgren M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, Englund E. Ischaemic brain damage after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia--a systematic description of selective eosinophilic neuronal death. A neuropathologic study of 23 patients. Resuscitation. 2014;85(4):527-32.
- 141. Sorgun MH, Rzayev S, Yilmaz V, Isıkay CT. Etiologic Subtypes of Watershed Infarcts. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2015;24(11):2478-83.
- 142. Akiguchi I, Tomimoto H, Suenaga T, Wakita H, Budka H. Alterations in glia and axons in the brains of Binswanger's disease patients. Stroke. 1997;28(7):1423-9.
- 143. Deramecourt V, Slade JY, Oakley AE, Perry RH, Ince PG, Maurage CA, et al. Staging and natural history of cerebrovascular pathology in dementia. Neurology. 2012;78(14):1043-50.
- 144. Furuta A, Ishii N, Nishihara Y, Horie A. Medullary arteries in aging and dementia. Stroke. 1991;22(4):442-6.
- 145. Gouw AA, Seewann A, van der Flier WM, Barkhof F, Rozemuller AM, Scheltens P, et al. Heterogeneity of small vessel disease: a systematic review of MRI and histopathology correlations. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2011;82(2):126-35.
- 146. Joutel A, Chabriat H. Pathogenesis of white matter changes in cerebral small vessel diseases: beyond vessel-intrinsic mechanisms. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2017;131(8):635-51.
- 147. Akiguchi I, Tomimoto H, Wakita H, Kawamoto Y, Matsuo A, Ohnishi K, et al. Topographical and cytopathological lesion analysis of the white matter in Binswanger's disease brains. Acta Neuropathol. 2004;107(6):563-70.
- 148. Barker R, Ashby EL, Wellington D, Barrow VM, Palmer JC, Kehoe PG, et al. Pathophysiology of white matter perfusion in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2014;137(Pt 5):1524-32.

- 149. Farkas E, de Vos RA, Donka G, Jansen Steur EN, Mihály A, Luiten PG. Age-related microvascular degeneration in the human cerebral periventricular white matter. Acta Neuropathol. 2006;111(2):150-7.
- 150. Hase Y, Ding R, Harrison G, Hawthorne E, King A, Gettings S, et al. White matter capillaries in vascular and neurodegenerative dementias. Acta neuropathologica communications. 2019;7(1):16.
- 151. Moody DM, Thore CR, Anstrom JA, Challa VR, Langefeld CD, Brown WR. Quantification of afferent vessels shows reduced brain vascular density in subjects with leukoaraiosis. Radiology. 2004;233(3):883-90.
- 152. Forsberg KME, Zhang Y, Reiners J, Ander M, Niedermayer A, Fang L, et al. Endothelial damage, vascular bagging and remodeling of the microvascular bed in human microangiopathy with deep white matter lesions. Acta neuropathologica communications. 2018;6(1):128.
- 153. Simpson JE, Fernando MS, Clark L, Ince PG, Matthews F, Forster G, et al. White matter lesions in an unselected cohort of the elderly: astrocytic, microglial and oligodendrocyte precursor cell responses. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2007;33(4):410-9.
- 154. Rauramaa T, Pikkarainen M, Englund E, Ince PG, Jellinger K, Paetau A, et al. Consensus recommendations on pathologic changes in the hippocampus: a postmortem multicenter inter-rater study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2013;72(6):452-61.
- 155. Montine TJ, Phelps CH, Beach TG, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Dickson DW, et al. National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(1):1-11.
- 156. Nelson PT, Dickson DW, Trojanowski JQ, Jack CR, Boyle PA, Arfanakis K, et al. Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE): consensus working group report. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2019;142(6):1503-27.
- 157. Hachinski V, Østergaard L. The Ambibaric Brain: Pathophysiological and Clinical Implications. Stroke. 2021;52(6):e259-e62.
- 158. Schuff N, Matsumoto S, Kmiecik J, Studholme C, Du A, Ezekiel F, et al. Cerebral blood flow in ischemic vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease, measured by arterial spin-labeling magnetic resonance imaging. Alzheimers Dement. 2009;5(6):454-62.
- 159. Binnewijzend MA, Kuijer JP, van der Flier WM, Benedictus MR, Möller CM, Pijnenburg YA, et al. Distinct perfusion patterns in Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies. Eur Radiol. 2014;24(9):2326-33.
- 160. Baron JC. Perfusion thresholds in human cerebral ischemia: historical perspective and therapeutic implications. Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland). 2001;11 Suppl 1:2-8.
- Hossmann KA. Viability thresholds and the penumbra of focal ischemia. Ann Neurol. 1994;36(4):557-65.

- 162. Skrobot OA, O'Brien J, Black S, Chen C, DeCarli C, Erkinjuntti T, et al. The Vascular Impairment of Cognition Classification Consensus Study. Alzheimers Dement. 2017;13(6):624-33.
- 163. Kalaria RN. Cerebrovascular disease and mechanisms of cognitive impairment: evidence from clinicopathological studies in humans. Stroke. 2012;43(9):2526-34.
- 164. Haglund M, Sjöbeck M, Englund E. Severe cerebral amyloid angiopathy characterizes an underestimated variant of vascular dementia. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders. 2004;18(2):132-7.
- Esiri MM, Wilcock GK, Morris JH. Neuropathological assessment of the lesions of significance in vascular dementia. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 1997;63(6):749-53.
- 166. Skrobot OA, Attems J, Esiri M, Hortobágyi T, Ironside JW, Kalaria RN, et al. Vascular cognitive impairment neuropathology guidelines (VCING): the contribution of cerebrovascular pathology to cognitive impairment. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2016;139(11):2957-69.
- 167. Kalaria RN. Neuropathological diagnosis of vascular cognitive impairment and vascular dementia with implications for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131(5):659-85.
- 168. Tohgi H, Yonezawa H, Takahashi S, Sato N, Kato E, Kudo M, et al. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type and vascular dementia with deep white matter changes. Neuroradiology. 1998;40(3):131-7.
- 169. Mokhber N, Shariatzadeh A, Avan A, Saber H, Babaei GS, Chaimowitz G, et al. Cerebral blood flow changes during aging process and in cognitive disorders: A review. Neuroradiol J. 2021;34(4):300-7.
- Thomas T, Miners S, Love S. Post-mortem assessment of hypoperfusion of cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2015;138(Pt 4):1059-69.
- 171. Brown WR, Moody DM, Thore CR, Challa VR, Anstrom JA. Vascular dementia in leukoaraiosis may be a consequence of capillary loss not only in the lesions, but in normal-appearing white matter and cortex as well. J Neurol Sci. 2007;257(1-2):62-6.
- Alafuzoff I, Adolfsson R, Grundke-Iqbal I, Winblad B. Perivascular deposits of serum proteins in cerebral cortex in vascular dementia. Acta Neuropathol. 1985;66(4):292-98.
- 173. Sinclair LI, Tayler HM, Love S. Synaptic protein levels altered in vascular dementia. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2015;41(4):533-43.
- 174. Datta A, Qian J, Chong R, Kalaria RN, Francis P, Lai MK, et al. Novel pathophysiological markers are revealed by iTRAQ-based quantitative clinical proteomics approach in vascular dementia. J Proteomics. 2014;99(100):54-67.
- 175. Lowe J, Kalaria R. Dementia. In: Love S, Budka H, Ironside JW, Perry A, editors. Greenfield's Neuropathology. 9 ed2015.
- 176. Liu H, Zhang J. Cerebral hypoperfusion and cognitive impairment: the pathogenic role of vascular oxidative stress. Int J Neurosci. 2012;122(9):494-9.

- 177. Toledo JB, Arnold SE, Raible K, Brettschneider J, Xie SX, Grossman M, et al. Contribution of cerebrovascular disease in autopsy confirmed neurodegenerative disease cases in the National Alzheimer's Coordinating Centre. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2013;136(Pt 9):2697-706.
- 178. Chui HC, Zheng L, Reed BR, Vinters HV, Mack WJ. Vascular risk factors and Alzheimer's disease: are these risk factors for plaques and tangles or for concomitant vascular pathology that increases the likelihood of dementia? An evidence-based review. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2012;4(1):1.
- 179. Javanshiri K, Waldo ML, Friberg N, Sjovall F, Wickerstrom K, Haglund M, et al. Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Diabetes in Alzheimer's Disease, Vascular Dementia, and Mixed Dementia: Prevalence and Presentation. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2018;65(4):1247-58.
- 180. Ou YN, Tan CC, Shen XN, Xu W, Hou XH, Dong Q, et al. Blood Pressure and Risks of Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of 209 Prospective Studies. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2020;76(1):217-25.
- 181. Tayler HM, MacLachlan R, Güzel Ö, Miners JS, Love S. Elevated late-life blood pressure may maintain brain oxygenation and slow amyloid-β accumulation at the expense of cerebral vascular damage. Brain Commun. 2023;5(2):fcad112.
- 182. Nortley R, Korte N, Izquierdo P, Hirunpattarasilp C, Mishra A, Jaunmuktane Z, et al. Amyloid β oligomers constrict human capillaries in Alzheimer's disease via signaling to pericytes. Science. 2019;365(6450).
- Dietrich HH, Xiang C, Han BH, Zipfel GJ, Holtzman DM. Soluble amyloid-beta, effect on cerebral arteriolar regulation and vascular cells. Mol Neurodegener. 2010;5:15.
- 184. Palmer JC, Barker R, Kehoe PG, Love S. Endothelin-1 is elevated in Alzheimer's disease and upregulated by amyloid-β. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2012;29(4):853-61.
- Palmer JC, Baig S, Kehoe PG, Love S. Endothelin-converting enzyme-2 is increased in Alzheimer's disease and up-regulated by Abeta. Am J Pathol. 2009;175(1):262-70.
- 186. Kalaria RN, Cohen DL, Premkumar DR, Nag S, LaManna JC, Lust WD. Vascular endothelial growth factor in Alzheimer's disease and experimental cerebral ischemia. Brain research Molecular brain research. 1998;62(1):101-5.
- 187. Yang SP, Bae DG, Kang HJ, Gwag BJ, Gho YS, Chae CB. Co-accumulation of vascular endothelial growth factor with beta-amyloid in the brain of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2004;25(3):283-90.
- 188. Patel NS, Mathura VS, Bachmeier C, Beaulieu-Abdelahad D, Laporte V, Weeks O, et al. Alzheimer's beta-amyloid peptide blocks vascular endothelial growth factor mediated signaling via direct interaction with VEGFR-2. J Neurochem. 2010;112(1):66-76.
- Tayler H, Miners JS, Güzel Ö, MacLachlan R, Love S. Mediators of cerebral hypoperfusion and blood-brain barrier leakiness in Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia and mixed dementia. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2021;31(4):e12935.

- 190. Yamazaki Y, Shinohara M, Shinohara M, Yamazaki A, Murray ME, Liesinger AM, et al. Selective loss of cortical endothelial tight junction proteins during Alzheimer's disease progression. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2019;142(4):1077-92.
- 191. Farkas E, De Jong GI, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Luiten PG. Pathological features of cerebral cortical capillaries are doubled in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2000;100(4):395-402.
- 192. Baloyannis SJ, Baloyannis IS. The vascular factor in Alzheimer's disease: a study in Golgi technique and electron microscopy. J Neurol Sci. 2012;322(1-2):117-21.
- 193. Challa VR, Thore CR, Moody DM, Anstrom JA, Brown WR. Increase of white matter string vessels in Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2004;6(4):379-83; discussion 443-9.
- 194. Outeiro TF, Koss DJ, Erskine D, Walker L, Kurzawa-Akanbi M, Burn D, et al. Dementia with Lewy bodies: an update and outlook. Mol Neurodegener. 2019;14(1):5.
- 195. Galasko D. Lewy Body Disorders. Neurol Clin. 2017;35(2):325-38.
- 196. Lobotesis K, Fenwick JD, Phipps A, Ryman A, Swann A, Ballard C, et al. Occipital hypoperfusion on SPECT in dementia with Lewy bodies but not AD. Neurology. 2001;56(5):643-9.
- 197. Higuchi M, Tashiro M, Arai H, Okamura N, Hara S, Higuchi S, et al. Glucose hypometabolism and neuropathological correlates in brains of dementia with Lewy bodies. Exp Neurol. 2000;162(2):247-56.
- 198. Claassen JA, Jansen RW. Cholinergically mediated augmentation of cerebral perfusion in Alzheimer's disease and related cognitive disorders: the cholinergic-vascular hypothesis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(3):267-71.
- Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rüb U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2003;24(2):197-211.
- 200. Tiraboschi P, Hansen LA, Alford M, Merdes A, Masliah E, Thal LJ, et al. Early and widespread cholinergic losses differentiate dementia with Lewy bodies from Alzheimer disease. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2002;59(10):946-51.
- 201. Shimada H, Hirano S, Shinotoh H, Aotsuka A, Sato K, Tanaka N, et al. Mapping of brain acetylcholinesterase alterations in Lewy body disease by PET. Neurology. 2009;73(4):273-8.
- 202. Fong TG, Inouye SK, Dai W, Press DZ, Alsop DC. Association cortex hypoperfusion in mild dementia with Lewy bodies: a potential indicator of cholinergic dysfunction? Brain Imaging Behav. 2011;5(1):25-35.
- 203. Moyaert P, Beun S, Achten E, Clement P. Effect of Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors on Cerebral Perfusion and Cognition: A Systematic Review. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2023;93(4):1211-21.
- 204. Allan LM, Ballard CG, Allen J, Murray A, Davidson AW, McKeith IG, et al. Autonomic dysfunction in dementia. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2007;78(7):671-7.

- 205. Andersson M, Hansson O, Minthon L, Ballard CG, Londos E. The period of hypotension following orthostatic challenge is prolonged in dementia with Lewy bodies. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2008;23(2):192-8.
- 206. Passant U, Warkentin S, Karlson S, Nilsson K, Edvinsson L, Gustafson L. Orthostatic hypotension in organic dementia: relationship between blood pressure, cortical blood flow and symptoms. Clinical autonomic research : official journal of the Clinical Autonomic Research Society. 1996;6(1):29-36.
- 207. Orimo S, Uchihara T, Nakamura A, Mori F, Kakita A, Wakabayashi K, et al. Axonal alpha-synuclein aggregates herald centripetal degeneration of cardiac sympathetic nerve in Parkinson's disease. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2008;131(Pt 3):642-50.
- 208. Udow SJ, Robertson AD, MacIntosh BJ, Espay AJ, Rowe JB, Lang AE, et al. 'Under pressure': is there a link between orthostatic hypotension and cognitive impairment in α-synucleinopathies? Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2016;87(12):1311-21.
- 209. Hase Y, Polvikoski TM, Firbank MJ, Craggs LJL, Hawthorne E, Platten C, et al. Small vessel disease pathological changes in neurodegenerative and vascular dementias concomitant with autonomic dysfunction. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2020;30(1):191-202.
- 210. Miners S, Moulding H, de Silva R, Love S. Reduced vascular endothelial growth factor and capillary density in the occipital cortex in dementia with Lewy bodies. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2014;24(4):334-43.
- 211. Guan J, Pavlovic D, Dalkie N, Waldvogel HJ, O'Carroll SJ, Green CR, et al. Vascular degeneration in Parkinson's disease. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland). 2013;23(2):154-64.
- 212. Yang P, Pavlovic D, Waldvogel H, Dragunow M, Synek B, Turner C, et al. String Vessel Formation is Increased in the Brain of Parkinson Disease. J Parkinsons Dis. 2015;5(4):821-36.
- 213. Wada K, Arai H, Takanashi M, Fukae J, Oizumi H, Yasuda T, et al. Expression levels of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in Parkinson's disease. Neuroreport. 2006;17(7):705-9.
- 214. Faucheux BA, Bonnet AM, Agid Y, Hirsch EC. Blood vessels change in the mesencephalon of patients with Parkinson's disease. Lancet. 1999;353(9157):981-2.
- 215. Desai Bradaric B, Patel A, Schneider JA, Carvey PM, Hendey B. Evidence for angiogenesis in Parkinson's disease, incidental Lewy body disease, and progressive supranuclear palsy. Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996). 2012;119(1):59-71.
- 216. De Reuck J, Deramecourt V, Cordonnier C, Leys D, Pasquier F, Maurage CA. Prevalence of cerebrovascular lesions in patients with Lewy body dementia: a neuropathological study. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2013;115(7):1094-7.
- 217. Grossman M, Seeley WW, Boxer AL, Hillis AE, Knopman DS, Ljubenov PA, et al. Frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2023;9(1):40.
- 218. Mackenzie IRA, Neumann M, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Alafuzoff I, Kril J, et al. Nomenclature for neuropathologic subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: consensus recommendations. Acta Neuropathologica. 2009;117(1):15-8.

- 219. Mackenzie IRA, Neumann M, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Alafuzoff I, Kril J, et al. Nomenclature and nosology for neuropathologic subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: an update. Acta Neuropathologica. 2010;119(1):1-4.
- 220. Mackenzie IRA, Neumann M, Baborie A, Sampathu DM, Du Plessis D, Jaros E, et al. A harmonized classification system for FTLD-TDP pathology. Acta Neuropathologica. 2011;122(1):111-3.
- 221. Lee EB, Porta S, Michael Baer G, Xu Y, Suh E, Kwong LK, et al. Expansion of the classification of FTLD-TDP: distinct pathology associated with rapidly progressive frontotemporal degeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;134(1):65-78.
- 222. Sieben A, Van Langenhove T, Engelborghs S, Martin JJ, Boon P, Cras P, et al. The genetics and neuropathology of frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;124(3):353-72.
- 223. Mutsaerts H, Mirza SS, Petr J, Thomas DL, Cash DM, Bocchetta M, et al. Cerebral perfusion changes in presymptomatic genetic frontotemporal dementia: a GENFI study. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2019;142(4):1108-20.
- 224. Ferrer I, Andrés-Benito P, Zelaya MV, Aguirre MEE, Carmona M, Ausín K, et al. Familial globular glial tauopathy linked to MAPT mutations: molecular neuropathology and seeding capacity of a prototypical mixed neuronal and glial tauopathy. Acta Neuropathol. 2020;139(4):735-71.
- 225. Hasan R, Humphrey J, Bettencourt C, Newcombe J, Lashley T, Fratta P, et al. Transcriptomic analysis of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP-43 pathology reveals cellular alterations across multiple brain regions. Acta Neuropathol. 2022;143(3):383-401.
- 226. Pottier C, Mateiu L, Baker MC, DeJesus-Hernandez M, Teixeira Vicente C, Finch NA, et al. Shared brain transcriptomic signature in TDP-43 type A FTLD patients with or without GRN mutations. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2022;145(7):2472-85.
- 227. Gerrits E, Giannini LAA, Brouwer N, Melhem S, Seilhean D, Le Ber I, et al. Neurovascular dysfunction in GRN-associated frontotemporal dementia identified by single-nucleus RNA sequencing of human cerebral cortex. Nat Neurosci. 2022;25(8):1034-48.
- 228. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell. 2013;153(6):1194-217.
- 229. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. Hallmarks of aging: An expanding universe. Cell. 2023;186(2):243-78.
- 230. King KS, Peshock RM, Rossetti HC, McColl RW, Ayers CR, Hulsey KM, et al. Effect of normal aging versus hypertension, abnormal body mass index, and diabetes mellitus on white matter hyperintensity volume. Stroke. 2014;45(1):255-7.
- 231. Green DJ, Hopman MT, Padilla J, Laughlin MH, Thijssen DH. Vascular Adaptation to Exercise in Humans: Role of Hemodynamic Stimuli. Physiological reviews. 2017;97(2):495-528.
- 232. De Silva TM, Faraci FM. Contributions of Aging to Cerebral Small Vessel Disease. Annual review of physiology. 2020;82:275-95.

- 233. Farkas E, Luiten PG. Cerebral microvascular pathology in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;64(6):575-611.
- 234. Chen JJ, Rosas HD, Salat DH. Age-associated reductions in cerebral blood flow are independent from regional atrophy. NeuroImage. 2011;55(2):468-78.
- 235. Bridges LR, Andoh J, Lawrence AJ, Khoong CHL, Poon W, Esiri MM, et al. Bloodbrain barrier dysfunction and cerebral small vessel disease (arteriolosclerosis) in brains of older people. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2014;73(11):1026-33.
- 236. Farrall AJ, Wardlaw JM. Blood-brain barrier: ageing and microvascular disease-systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30(3):337-52.
- 237. Alzheimer A. Histologische Studien zur Differentialdiagnose der progressiven Paralyse. In: Nissl F, editor. Histologische und histopathologische Arbeiten über die Grosshirnrinde : mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der pathologischen Anatomie der Geisteskrankheiten. 1: Wellcome Collection. <u>https://wellcomecollection.org/works/urhbg8eh;</u> 1904. p. 18-314.
- 238. Cerletti U. Die Gefässvermehrung im Zentralnervensystem. In: Nissl F, editor. Histologische und histopathologische Arbeiten über die Grosshirnrinde : mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der pathologischen Anatomie der Geisteskrankheiten.
 4: Wellcome Collection. <u>https://wellcomecollection.org/works/urhbg8eh</u>; 1910/11. p. 1-168.
- 239. Hassler O. Vascular changes in senile brains. A micro-angiographic study. Acta Neuropathol. 1965;5(1):40-53.
- 240. Hassler O. Arterial deformities in senile brains. The occurrence of the deformities in a large autopsy series and some aspects of their functional significance. Acta Neuropathol. 1967;8(3):219-29.
- 241. Beskow J, Hassler O, Ottosson JO. Cerebral arterial deformities in relation to senile deterioration. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica Supplementum. 1971;221:111-9.
- 242. Saunders RL, Bell MA. X-ray microscopy and histochemistry of the human cerebral blood vessels. J Neurosurg. 1971;35(2):128-40.
- Cervos-Navarro J, Gertz HJ, Frydl V. Cerebral blood vessel changes in old people. Mech Ageing Dev. 1987;39(3):223-31.
- 244. Arsene D, Ardeleanu C. Vascular convolutes in the brain: a peculiar entity. Romanian journal of morphology and embryology = Revue roumaine de morphologie et embryologie. 2006;47(1):37-41.
- 245. Arsene D, Vasilescu F, Toader C, Bălan A, Popa C, Ardeleanu C. Clinicopathological correlations in fatal ischemic stroke. An immunohistochemical study of human brain penumbra. Romanian journal of morphology and embryology = Revue roumaine de morphologie et embryologie. 2011;52(1):29-38.
- 246. Ighodaro ET, Shahidehpour RK, Bachstetter AD, Abner EL, Nelson RS, Fardo DW, et al. A neuropathologic feature of brain aging: multi-lumen vascular profiles. Acta neuropathologica communications. 2023;11(1):138.
- 247. Brun A. Pathology and pathophysiology of cerebrovascular dementia: pure subgroups of obstructive and hypoperfusive etiology. Dementia. 1994;5(3-4):145-7.

- 248. Brunnstrom H, Englund E. Clinicopathological concordance in dementia diagnostics. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry : official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry. 2009;17(8):664-70.
- 249. McKhann GM, Albert MS, Grossman M, Miller B, Dickson D, Trojanowski JQ. Clinical and pathological diagnosis of frontotemporal dementia: report of the Work Group on Frontotemporal Dementia and Pick's Disease. Archives of neurology. 2001;58(11):1803-9.
- 250. Cairns NJ, Bigio EH, Mackenzie IRA, Neumann M, Lee VMY, Hatanpaa KJ, et al. Neuropathologic diagnostic and nosologic criteria for frontotemporal lobar degeneration: consensus of the Consortium for Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration. Acta Neuropathologica. 2007;114(1):5-22.
- 251. McKeith IG, Dickson DW, Lowe J, Emre M, O'Brien JT, Feldman H, et al. Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: third report of the DLB Consortium. Neurology. 2005;65(12):1863-72.
- 252. Hyman BT, Trojanowski JQ. Consensus recommendations for the postmortem diagnosis of Alzheimer disease from the National Institute on Aging and the Reagan Institute Working Group on diagnostic criteria for the neuropathological assessment of Alzheimer disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1997;56(10):1095-7.
- 253. McKeith IG, Boeve BF, Dickson DW, Halliday G, Taylor JP, Weintraub D, et al. Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. Neurology. 2017;89(1):88-100.
- 254. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1993.
- 255. Grinberg LT, Thal DR. Vascular pathology in the aged human brain. Acta Neuropathol. 2010;119(3):277-90.
- 256. Cecconi M, De Backer D, Antonelli M, Beale R, Bakker J, Hofer C, et al. Consensus on circulatory shock and hemodynamic monitoring. Task force of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive care medicine. 2014;40(12):1795-815.
- 257. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). Jama. 2016;315(8):801-10.
- 258. Freeman R, Wieling W, Axelrod FB, Benditt DG, Benarroch E, Biaggioni I, et al. Consensus statement on the definition of orthostatic hypotension, neurally mediated syncope and the postural tachycardia syndrome. Clinical autonomic research : official journal of the Clinical Autonomic Research Society. 2011;21(2):69-72.
- 259. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. European heart journal. 2016;37(27):2129-200.
- 260. Hartmann P, Ramseier A, Gudat F, Mihatsch MJ, Polasek W. [Normal weight of the brain in adults in relation to age, sex, body height and weight]. Der Pathologe. 1994;15(3):165-70.

- 261. Sergeant, ESG, 2018. Epitools Epidemiological Calculators. Ausvet. [cited 2023 1 June]. Available from: <u>http://epitools.ausvet.com.au</u>.
- 262. Coyle P. Diameter and length changes in cerebral collaterals after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the young rat. The Anatomical record. 1984;210(2):357-64.
- 263. Heil M, Eitenmüller I, Schmitz-Rixen T, Schaper W. Arteriogenesis versus angiogenesis: similarities and differences. J Cell Mol Med. 2006;10(1):45-55.
- 264. Heil M, Schaper W. Insights into pathways of arteriogenesis. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2007;8(1):35-42.
- 265. Gifre-Renom L, Jones EAV. Vessel Enlargement in Development and Pathophysiology. Front Physiol. 2021;12:639645.
- 266. MacGregor Sharp M, Bulters D, Brandner S, Holton J, Verma A, Werring DJ, et al. The fine anatomy of the perivascular compartment in the human brain: relevance to dilated perivascular spaces in cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2019;45(3):305-8.
- 267. Arvanitakis Z, Leurgans SE, Barnes LL, Bennett DA, Schneider JA. Microinfarct pathology, dementia, and cognitive systems. Stroke. 2011;42(3):722-7.
- 268. Sims-Lucas S. Analysis of 3D branching pattern: hematoxylin and eosin method. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, NJ). 2012;886:73-86.
- Galambos C, Sims-Lucas S, Abman SH. Three-dimensional reconstruction identifies misaligned pulmonary veins as intrapulmonary shunt vessels in alveolar capillary dysplasia. The Journal of pediatrics. 2014;164(1):192-5.
- 270. Bräunig S, Karmhag I, Li H, Enoksson J, Hultquist A, Scheding S. Threedimensional spatial mapping of the human hematopoietic microenvironment in healthy and diseased bone marrow. Cytometry A. 2023.
- 271. Norvik C, Westöö CK, Peruzzi N, Lovric G, van der Have O, Mokso R, et al. Synchrotron-based phase-contrast micro-CT as a tool for understanding pulmonary vascular pathobiology and the 3-D microanatomy of alveolar capillary dysplasia. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology. 2020;318(1):L65-I75.